
 Agenda

Page 1

Cabinet

Time and Date
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 28th August, 2018

Place
Committee Room 3 - Council House

Public business

1. Apologies  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 18)

(a) To agree the minutes from the meeting of Cabinet on 17th July 2018

(b) Matters arising

4. UK City of Culture 2021 - City Readiness  (Pages 19 - 32)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

5. 2018/19 First Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to June 2018)  (Pages 
33 - 58)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

6. Award of a Grant to Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre  (Pages 59 - 
78)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (People)

7. Second Devolution Deal for the West Midlands  (Pages 79 - 118)

Report of the Chief Executive

8. Public Space Protection Order (Coventry Dog Control)  (Pages 119 - 142)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

9. Capital Funding for Phase 2 Extension Plans for Lentons Lane Cemetery  
(Pages 143 - 150)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Public Document Pack



Page 2

10. West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership  (Pages 151 - 158)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (People)

11. Outstanding Issues  

There are no outstanding issues

12. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  

Private business

Nil

Martin Yardley, Deputy Chief Executive (Place), Council House, Coventry
Friday, 17 August 2018

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lara 
Knight / Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Tel: 024 7683 3237 / 3065, Email: 
lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk

Membership: 
Cabinet Members:- 
Councillors F Abbott, K Caan, G Duggins (Chair), J Innes, A Khan (Deputy Chair),     
K Maton, J Mutton, J O'Boyle, E Ruane and Seaman

Non-voting Deputy Cabinet Members:- Councillors P Akhtar, R Ali, B Kaur, R Lakha, 
T Skipper and D Welsh

By invitation: Councillors A Andrews and G Ridley (non-voting Opposition 
representatives)

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR if you would like this information in another format or 
language please contact us.

Lara Knight / Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, 
Tel: 024 7683 3237 / 3065, Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / 
michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk



– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet held at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 17 July 2018

Present:
Members: Councillor G Duggins (Chair)

Councillor F Abbott
Councillor A Khan (Deputy Chair)
Councillor K Maton
Councillor J Mutton
Councillor J O'Boyle
Councillor E Ruane
Councillor P Seaman

Non-Voting Opposition 
Members:

Councillor A Andrews
Councillor G Ridley

Other Members: Councillor P Akhtar
Councillor R Lakha
Councillor J McNicholas
Councillor M Mutton
Councillor T Skipper 

Employees (by Directorate):
People

Place

G Quinton (Deputy Chief Executive (People), N Hart, 

B Hastie, D Cockroft, R Palmer, D Cockroft, M Salmon, 
J Seddon, A Walster

Apologies: Councillor K Caan
Councillor Clifford
Councillor Gannon
Councillor B Kaur
Councillor J Innes
Councillor D Welsh 

Public Business

13. Declarations of Interest 

There were no disclosable pecuniary interests.

14. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on 12th June 2018 were agreed and signed as a true 
record. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



– 2 –

Further to Minute 6/18 headed ‘The Burges Conservation Area Regeneration’ the 
Cabinet noted that the report was withdrawn at Council on 10th July 2018 as the 
funding application had been unsuccessful.

15. Exclusion of Press And Public 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet agrees to exclude the press and public under 
Sections 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 relating to the 
following private reports on the grounds that the reports involve the likely 
disclosure of information defined in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, 
as they contain information relating to the financial affairs of a particular 
person (including the authority holding that information) and in all 
circumstances of the cases, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information:

Minute No. Report title

24 Coventry Station Masterplan Programme Update

25 Grant of Lease of Car Park C, Ricoh Arena 

26 Commercial Waste Expansion Plan

16. Coventry Local Air Quality Action Plan 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that had 
also been considered by the Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board 
(3) at their meeting on 11th July 2018 (their minute 5/18 referred), on the 
development of a Local Air Quality Action Plan for Coventry. A briefing note was 
tabled setting out the recommendations of the Scrutiny Board, for the Cabinet’s 
consideration.

In July 2017, the Government published the “United Kingdom Plan for tackling 
roadside nitrogen dioxide (NO2) concentrations”, and Coventry was named as one 
of 22 towns and cities within the UK where NO2 levels were forecast to exceed 
legal limits by 2020. The Government had established a Joint Air Quality Unit 
(JAQU) to work with the relevant local authorities to achieve the legal limits for 
NO2 in the shortest possible time within the identified towns and cities.

To meet JAQU requirements, the City Council needed to develop a Local Air 
Quality Action Plan (LAQAP) setting out how the Council would achieve the legal 
limits for NO2 in the shortest possible time. This LAQAP, supported by a Full 
Business Case identifying the resources required to implement it, needed to be 
submitted to JAQU by the end of 2018.  

An initial Strategic Outline Case (SOC) for the LAQAP was submitted to JAQU in 
March 2018, outlining the range of measures under consideration for inclusion in 
the LAQAP, as outlined in Paragraph 2.1 of the report. The SOC would form the 
basis for the further development of the LAQAP.  Further work was underway to 
investigate possible routes to achieve compliance including promoting the use of 
electric vehicles and utilising the latest technology to maximize the efficiency of the 
road network and to promote changes in travel behaviour.

Page 4



– 3 –

In the meantime the City Council had been successful in obtaining funding to help 
reduce NO2 including:

1. £2.021m ‘early measures’ funding which will be targeted at the A4600 
corridor (Ball Hill)

2. £1.5m ‘clean bus technology’ fund for retrofitting over 100 National Express 
buses to make them Euro 6 compliant

3. £300,000 for the introduction of residential on-street electric vehicle 
charging.

Cabinet approval was sought to add these to the capital programme.

The Government had also published details of the latest round of the Ultra-Low 
Emission Bus Scheme (ULEBS) whilst Innovate UK was also currently calling for 
bids , to be submitted by the end of June, to its Research and Development Fund 
for on-street and wireless charging technologies for electric vehicles.  Both of 
these offered opportunities for the City Council to develop further bids for funding 
that would support the operation of electric-powered buses within the City, initially 
through a pilot project based on the Walsgrave Road corridor.  This would clearly 
contribute towards achieving NO2 compliance within the City as part of the Air 
Quality Action Plan.
The Government published the draft National Clean Air Strategy for consultation 
on 22nd May 2018 with responses due to be submitted by 14th August 2018.  A 
response to relevant questions was currently in preparation.  

The Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board support the 
recommendations to Cabinet and further recommended that the Local Air Quality 
Action Plan considers the following:

 A strong emphasis on encouraging cycling and walking

 Further investigation into the use of green corridors to improve air quality

 Use the Councils licensing powers to address pollution caused by diesel 
taxis

 Encourage all bus operators in the city to improve the quality of their fleet to 
be Euro6 compliant.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 
1) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), following 

consultation with the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Jobs 
and Regeneration, Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport, Cabinet 
Member for City Services and the Director of Finance and Corporate 
Resources, to:

   Determine the final content of the Local Air Quality Action Plan and 
Full Business Case and to bring these back to the Cabinet for 
consideration prior to submission to the Government’s Joint Air 
Quality Unit by December 2018.

Page 5



– 4 –

   Implement the Early Measures programme for the A4600 Corridor 
utilising the £2.021 million grant funding received from Government 
for this purpose.

   Develop and submit to the appropriate bodies, bids for grant funding 
for further measures that would support the objectives of the 
emerging Local Air Quality Action Plan.

   Respond to the Government consultation on the Clean Air Strategy.

2) Notes the addition of the NO2 Plan Early Measures Fund grant 
awarded for the A4600 Corridor (£2.021m) and approves addition of 
the successful Coventry NO2 Reduction Early Measures Programme to 
the Council’s 5 year Capital Programme as approved by Council on 
20th February, 2018 (their minute 105/18 refers) and delegates 
authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), following consultation 
with the Director of Finance and Corporate Resources, to enter into 
funding agreements as appropriate. 

3) Agrees that the Council acts as Accountable Body for, and notes the 
addition to the Council’s capital programme of the £1.5m Clean Bus 
Technology Fund capital grant, and delegates authority to the Deputy 
Chief Executive (Place), following consultation with the Director of 
Finance and Corporate Resources, to enter into funding agreements 
as appropriate.

4) Notes the addition of the £300,000 On-street Residential Charge Point 
Scheme capital grant to the Council’s 5 year Capital programme and 
delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), following 
consultation with the Director of Finance and Corporate Resources, to 
enter into funding agreements as appropriate.

5) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) for the 
conduct of procurement processes as relevant to achieve delivery of 
the Air Quality Action Plan and for the award of the procurement once 
a compliant tender exercise has been conducted.

6) Agrees the recommendations of the Business, Economy and 
Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) that the Local Air Quality Action Plan 
considers the following:
a) A strong emphasis on encouraging cycling and walking
b) Further investigation into the use of green corridors to improve air 

quality
c) Use the Councils licensing powers to address pollution caused by 

diesel taxis
d) Encourage all bus operators in the City to improve the quality of 

their fleet to be Euro6 compliant. 

Page 6



– 5 –

17. Recommendations from the Canal Basin Task and Finish Group of the 
Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that set out 
the recommendations from the Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board 
(3) – Canal Basin Task and Finish Group that had been established to  facilitate 
improvements to and better use of the Canal and Canal Basin.

The Council held a 99 year long leasehold interest from 1st February 1995 in the 
Canal Basin, St Nicholas Street from the Canal and River Trust under the terms of 
two head leases both dated 20th January 1999 and in turn was responsible for the 
day to day management and operation of the Canal Basin.   

At their meeting on 20th September 2017 (their minute 17/17 referred), following a 
referral from Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee, the Business, Economy and 
Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) considered an item on the Canal and Canal Basin. 
Members heard from representatives of the Coventry Canal Society, the Coventry 
Canal Basin Trust and The Tin Music and Arts (based at Workshops 1-4 Canal 
Basin). At that meeting it was resolved that the Board request that a Task and 
Finish Group be arranged to facilitate improvements to and better use of the Canal 
and Canal Basin. 

The Task and Finish Group met with stakeholders and Cabinet Members and 
visited the Canal Basin and the Canal, this enabled them to identify 
recommendations which were accepted by the Business, Economy and Enterprise 
Scrutiny Board (3) at their meeting on 15th May 2018 (their minute 50/17 referred) 
for consideration by Cabinet.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet agrees the recommendations of the Business, 
Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Board (3) that:

1) Coventry City Council work closely with the Canal and River Trust to 
review the use of the Canal and Canal Basin to create a clear vision and 
aspiration for the increased use of the Canal and Canal Basin in 
Coventry.
a) The review should recognise the cultural and heritage contribution the 

canal has and can in future make to the City.
b) The review should maximise the public health potential and 

contribution the area makes as a lung of the City, which is recognised 
as part of the Council’s Green Space Strategy.

c) The review should assess the current use of all of the buildings at the 
Canal Basin to ensure that they are appropriate to the renewed vision 
and aspiration for the Canal and Canal Basin in Coventry.

d) The review should involve all partners and organisations with an 
interest in the Canal and Canal Basin.

e) The review should consider transport connectivity between the Canal 
Basin and the City Centre.

Page 7



– 6 –

2) Cabinet Members should meet with representatives of the universities, 
and other health and sports related organisations in the City to maximise 
the contribution to improved health outcomes the Canal can make.

3) Coventry City Council consider “quick wins”, such as changing the long 
stay car park at Leicester Row to a short stay, improved signage to the 
Canal Basin, improved lighting, and the removal of the wall at the 
entrance to the Canal Basin on the junction of St. Nicholas St and 
Leicester Row, to improve ease of access.

4) Coventry City Council work closely with the Canal and River Trust to 
address issues of cleanliness and maintenance, as well as formally 
recognising the contribution made by the Coventry Canal Society to this 
work.

5) Coventry City Council support the Canal and River Trust in getting local 
businesses located on the Canal side involved to support the work in 
increasing the use of the canal and the Canal Basin.

6) Coventry City Council formally recognise the appointment of an Elected 
Member to the West Midlands Canal and River Trust Board of Trustees. 

18. Additional Funding to Deliver the Upper Precinct Public Realm Scheme 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), that would 
also be considered by Council on 4th September 2018, that requested that the 
Cabinet make a recommendation to Council noting the use of the urgency 
provision, as set out in Paragraph 6 of Part 3C of the Council’s Constitution, by the 
Leader, following consultation with the Chair of the Scrutiny Co-ordination 
Committee, to take a decision approving additional capital funding to deliver the 
Upper Precinct Public Realm scheme. 

In March 2018, the Cabinet approved the ‘Public Realm Phase 5’ programme 
which identified priority public realm and streetscape schemes to be delivered 
across the city centre (their minute 139/17). The report noted the significant 
investment in public realm in the city centre since 2011 and how this investment 
had played a key role in attracting the private sector, including Shearer Property 
Group’s (SPG) investment in the Cathedral Lanes scheme, to invest in the city and 
support our vision for transforming the city centre as a place for business, leisure 
and shopping. 

The March 2018 Cabinet report also identified the fantastic opportunity the award 
of UK City of Culture provides to further enhance the city centre ahead of 2021 
and as a lasting legacy for residents and businesses. To this end, the report 
identified a priority order for the schemes, based on location and likely footfall, that 
would maximise the impact on the city centre. The number one priority was the 
proposal to bring forward the transformation of the Upper Precinct through public 
realm enhancements to create a high quality public space.  

To maximise the transformation to this part of the city centre, the Upper Precinct 
public realm scheme had been developed in partnership with JP Morgan (as asset 
advisors to the owners of the Upper Precinct retail parade) and their retail advisors 
SPG. As well as high quality paving, lighting, columns and balustrades, the 
scheme also provided a once in a generation opportunity to remove some of the 

Page 8



– 7 –

lower quality elements of the Upper Precinct which were not in keeping with either 
the historic nature of the city centre nor a fit for purpose, 21st century retail 
environment, including the removal of the escalator and the bridge links across the 
precinct. These elements would be delivered as part of the first phase of 
improvements. The second phase of the scheme would involve removal of the 
Council owned retail unit (which was currently leased to Ernest Jones) adjacent to 
the ramp connecting the Upper Precinct to Broadgate. This aspiration, which 
would restore the Upper Precinct to its former glory, was still subject to acquisition 
and funding. A bid had been submitted to the West Midlands Combined Authority 
as part of the wider Public Realm Phase 5 package, seeking the additional funds 
to deliver this element which could enable completion ahead of 2021. If this was 
unsuccessful the ambition was to make this part of a later phase, after 2021. 

Since the scheme was originally conceived, confidence in the retail market across 
the country had declined significantly which, as a consequence, had led to the 
financial contribution from the owners of the Upper Precinct retail parade into the 
scheme being reduced. Therefore, whilst the Council had undertaken a thorough 
value engineering exercise which had generated scheme savings, it was proposed 
that the Council’s funding contribution increased from £6.7m to £7.6m (out of a 
total scheme cost of £10.7m) in order to realise all the benefits of the full scheme. 

It was proposed that the additional funding was secured from the following 
sources:
 £500,000 was re-allocated to the Upper Precinct public realm scheme from the 

‘New waterpark and leisure centre’ Public Realm Phase 5 scheme (the March 
2018 Cabinet report authorised a decision around the reallocation of funding to 
be delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), following consultation with 
the Cabinet Members for City Services and Jobs and Regeneration).

 £450,000 to be identified and agreed as new capital funding to cover the 
funding shortfall. 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet recommend that Council notes the use of the 
urgency provision, as set out in Paragraph 6 of Part 3C of the Council’s 
Constitution, by the Leader, following consultation with the Chair of the 
Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee, to take a decision approving that 
£450,000 is added to the Council’s capital programme, funded from 
corporate reserves, to enable the delivery of the Upper Precinct public realm 
scheme.

19. Coventry Station Masterplan Programme Update 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that sought 
the approval of updates to the Coventry Station Masterplan Programme.

The Coventry Station Masterplan was approved by the Cabinet in March 2015 
(minute 126/15 referred). It aimed to meet the needs of a fast growing City and 
create a fitting gateway to the City. An updated masterplan was approved by the 
Cabinet on 24th January, 2017 (minute 101/17 referred), with further approvals 
granted for the proposed procurement strategy on 28th November, 2017 (minute 
80/17 referred) and land acquisition on 13th February, 2018 (minute 119/17 
referred).

Page 9



– 8 –

The Coventry Station Masterplan would deliver a new footbridge, extended 
canopies, bay platform, a new station entrance onto Warwick Road with shops, a 
multi-storey car park, bus interchange and new highway infrastructure. Following 
the award of City of Culture 2021, the project programme had been reviewed with 
a view to accelerate completion from summer 2021 to autumn 2020 to ensure the 
new station was ready to welcome visitors during 2021.

The recent tendering exercise for the footbridge and canopies had demonstrated 
significant inflation in the rail sector. In response to this an exercise had been 
undertaken to review the cost estimates for the rest of the programme, with a 
focus on scrutinising construction costs to benchmark against current market rates 
in order to provide an updated and robust cost overview. The report included the 
proposed measures to manage cost and de-risk the programme to ensure the 
masterplan could be delivered within the approved £82m funding envelope.

The change in programme would result in 385 rail parking spaces being taken out 
of use during construction of the car park and bus interchange.  To reduce the 
compensation claim from the car park operator, Virgin Trains, for loss of revenue, 
a temporary car park with 196 spaces was proposed south of Westminster Road. 
Cabinet approval was sought to add this car park to the Council’s off street car 
parking order and to approve the proposal for reimbursing Virgin Trains for loss of 
revenue. The car park could be delivered within the £82m funding envelope and 
would provide an opportunity to generate income to reduce cost risk.

In order to further de-risk the project, the southern section of the proposed western 
link road connecting Central Six Retail Park to the Ring Road had been omitted 
from the scheme. This removed the risk of potential objections to the planning 
application from key stakeholders, a lengthy Compulsory Purchase Order process 
and a potentially significant compensation claim, which would be outside of the 
available project budget. The link road would be completed in a future phase of the 
Friargate Masterplan.

Cabinet approval was sought for the addition to the masterplan programme of the 
extension of the pedestrian boulevard up to the front of the existing station 
entrance, which could potentially be funded from the contingency budget if funds 
allowed, or alternatively additional funds would be sought. 

Other value engineering options were being explored: the Bus Interchange could 
be value engineered by reducing the building size and internal fit out, to be 
delivered within the funding envelope. The revised scope would still be required to 
support the same capacity of buses serving the interchange and could also reduce 
the overhead for operational costs.

The Station Masterplan scheme also included changes to the layout of the Station 
taxi rank, which was being relocated to create a traffic free route in front of the rail 
station. In order for the station franchise operator to continue to issue permits to 
taxi drivers to pick up passengers from the Station, Cabinet approval was required 
for freehold transfer of a piece of land (edged red on the plan attached as 
Appendix 1 to the report) to Network Rail which was to be included in the new 
proposed taxi rank and within the operational station lease area.

Page 10



– 9 –

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

(1)    Notes the award of a contract to Buckingham Contracting Ltd for the 
delivery of the new footbridge at a contract value of £9.3m with an 
appropriate level of contingency being set aside, the sum of which is 
stated in the private section of this report, allocated within the overall 
£82m funding envelope already approved.

(2)    Approves that the delivery of a section of the link road into Central Six 
Retail Park (as shown in Appendix 2 to the report) has been removed 
from the Coventry Station Masterplan programme of works for the 
purposes of de-risking the project.

(3) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), following 
consultation with the cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration, to 
finalise a revised scope within the Coventry Station Masterplan 
Programme scheme which delivers a revised Highway layout 
(illustrated in Appendix 2 to the report), an extension to the pedestrian 
boulevard (illustrated in Appendix 3 to the report), and potentially a 
reduction in scope of the bus interchange to keep the overall 
programme within the £82m funding envelope.

(4) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), in 
consultation with Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration and the 
Director of Finance and Corporate Resources, to manage the scheme 
and funding element as a whole programme, reallocating funds, 
including contingency between each work package to assist in 
programme delivery timescales.

(5) Approves the undertaking of the necessary procedure to allow 
Westminster Road temporary car park (as shown in Appendix 4 to the 
report) to be added to the Council’s Off-street Parking Places Order.

(6) Approves that Westminster Road temporary car park is managed and 
operated by the Council as a pay and display car park and that the tariff 
structure introduced at Westminster Road car park is consistent with 
the charging structure at the nearby Grosvenor Road public car park 
and other long stay Council car parks in the city centre.

(7) Approves within existing budgets the proposal to reimburse Virgin 
Trains for loss of revenue from rail car parking provisions during the 
construction phase and delegate authority to the Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place), following consultation with the Director of Finance 
and Corporate Resources, to agree the appropriate mechanism for 
paying Virgin Trains compensation due via the statutory Station 
Change process.

(8) Approves freehold transfer of a piece of land, edged red on the plan 
attached as Appendix 1 to the report, to Network Rail which is to be 
included in the new proposed taxi rank and within the operational 
station lease area to enable taxi permits to be issued.

Page 11



– 10 –

(9) Approves in principle (following the construction of the bus 
interchange) the completion of a legally binding agreement between the 
City Council and West Midland Combined Authority (Transport for West 
Midland) or such other third party on a revenue cost neutral basis to the 
City council for the operational management of the bus interchange. 
Any management arrangement for the bus interchange which does not 
result in a revenue cost neutral position for the City Council shall be 
brought back to the Cabinet for approval.

(10) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration and 
the Director for Finance and Corporate Resources, to undertake all 
necessary due diligence and to finalise the terms of the management 
arrangement for the bus interchange on a revenue cost neutral 
position.

20. Grant of Lease of Car Park C, Ricoh Arena 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that sought 
approval of the grant of a new long lease over Car Park C, Ricoh Arena, in order 
to facilitate the development of a hotel.

The development of a new hotel on Car Park C at the Ricoh Arena had been a 
long term ambition of the Council. It was recognised that additional hotel 
accommodation would support events and conferencing at the Ricoh Arena but 
more importantly across the City as a whole.

Car park C remained in Council ownership. It was located opposite the Ricoh 
Arena and Arena Park developments on the western side of the A444. The site 
extended to approximately 3.5 ha (8.6 acres) and was mainly used for events 
parking for cars and coaches associated with the Ricoh Arena and was accessed 
directly from the A444.

Wasps Holdings Ltd (WHL) had recently approached the Council to request the 
grant of a new long lease over Car Park C in order to facilitate the development of 
an up to 150 bed hotel. The report set out the proposed terms of the lease, and 
the protections to be put in place to secure the Council’s position.  

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1) Approves the grant of an initial licence over Car Park C, shown edged 
red on Plan 1 attached as Appendix 1 to the report, to WHL on income 
sharing terms to expire no later than 30th November 2019.

2) Approves the grant of a long lease of the area shown edged red on Plan 
1 attached as Appendix 1 to the report, to WHL which shall be co-
terminus with the lease on the remainder of Ricoh Arena, to facilitate the 
development of the new hotel subject to planning consent for the 
development of a hotel being granted.    

Page 12



– 11 –

3) Approves the grant of a car parking licence to WHL over the Leisure 
Land, shown edged red on Plan 2 attached as Appendix 1 to the report, 
in order to provide additional car parking to support the Ricoh Arena and 
to provide replacement car parking during the construction of the hotel. 

4) Delegates authority to the Director of Project Management and Property 
Services, following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Jobs and 
Regeneration, to finalise the terms of the licence and lease, subject to 
this report and for any subsequent variation in terms.  

5) Delegates authority to the Head of Legal Services to execute all the 
necessary documentation for the initial licence, option and lease referred 
to in the report.

21. Outstanding Issues 

There were no outstanding issues.

22. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 

There were no other items of public business.

23. Commercial Waste Expansion Plan 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), which 
would also be considered by Council on 4th September 2018, which sought 
approval to conclude negotiations with Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council 
(NBBC) to deliver domestic recycling collections to the residents of Nuneaton and 
Bedworth Borough. 

A corresponding private report detailing confidential aspects of the proposals was 
also submitted to the meeting for consideration (Minute 26 below refers)

Coventry City Council’s Commercial Waste Team continued to deliver a gross 
income of c.£5.7m per annum. Over the last five years a proportion of this income 
had been achieved by successfully providing a Commercial Waste service on 
behalf of NBBC. 

Building on this successful relationship with NBBC the City Council’s Commercial 
Waste Team had explored further areas for joint working between the two 
authorities.

The report sought delegated approval from Cabinet to conclude negotiations with 
NBBC, and to enter into an agency agreement with them to deliver domestic 
recycling collections to the residents of the Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough. 
Further approval was also sought from Council to include the cost of purchasing 
five split bodied vehicles in the 2018/2019 capital programme, to service this 
arrangement.

Page 13



– 12 –

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1) Approves in principle the Agency Agreement with Nuneaton and 
Bedworth Borough Council to allow the City Council to act as an agent 
to service the operation of their domestic recycling collection. 

2) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the 
Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for City Services, to give final approval to the Agency 
Agreement including the TUPE transfer of the existing operational team 
to the City Council. 

3) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the 
Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services, in consultation with the 
City Solicitor, to undertake all necessary due diligence and steps 
required to enter into the relevant legal agreements and associated 
documents necessary to complete the transaction. 

4) Recommends that Council approves that the sum identified within the 
private element of the report is added to the Council’s 2018/2019 capital 
programme, funded from the on-going revenues of NBBC agency 
agreement, for the acquisition of 5 new vehicles to be used to service the 
arrangement set out in this report. 

24. Coventry Station Masterplan Programme Update 

Further to Minute 19 above, the Cabinet considered a private report of the Deputy 
Chief Executive (Place) that set out confidential aspects of proposals for updates 
to the Coventry Station Masterplan Programme.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:  

1) Notes the award of a contract to Buckingham Contracting Ltd for the 
delivery of the new footbridge at a contract value of £9.3m with a 
contingency amount in the sum now stated allocated within the overall 
£82m funding envelope already approved.

2) Approves that the delivery of a section of the link road into Central Six 
Retail Park (as shown in Appendix 2 to the report) has been removed 
from the Coventry Station Masterplan programme of works for the 
purposes of de-risking the project.

3) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration, to 
finalise a revised scope within the Coventry Station Masterplan 
Programme scheme which delivers a revised Highway layout (illustrated 
in Appendix 2 to the report), an extension to the pedestrian boulevard 
(illustrated in Appendix 3 to the report), and potentially a reduction in 
scope of the bus interchange to keep the overall programme within the 
£82m funding envelope.

Page 14



– 13 –

4) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), in 
consultation with Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration and the 
Director of Finance and Corporate Resources, to manage the scheme 
and funding element as a whole programme, reallocating funds, 
including contingency between each work package to assist in 
programme delivery timescales.

5) Approves the undertaking of the necessary procedure to allow 
Westminster Road temporary car park (as shown in Appendix 4 to the 
report) to be added to the Council’s Off-street Parking Places Order.

6) Approves that Westminster Road temporary car park is managed and 
operated by the Council as a pay and display car park and that the tariff 
structure introduced at Westminster Road car park is consistent with the 
charging structure at the nearby Grosvenor Road public car park and 
other long stay Council car parks in the city centre.

7) Approves within existing budgets the proposal to reimburse Virgin 
Trains for loss of revenue from rail car parking provisions during the 
construction phase and delegates authority to the Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place), in consultation with the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Resources, to agree the appropriate mechanism for paying 
Virgin Trains compensation due via the statutory Station Change 
process.

8) Approves freehold transfer of the piece of land, edged red on the plan 
shown in Appendix 1 to the report, to Network Rail which is to be 
included in the new proposed taxi rank and within the operational station 
lease area to enable taxi permits to be issued.

9) Approves in principle (following the construction of the bus interchange) 
the completion of a legally binding agreement, if required, between the 
City Council and West Midland Combined Authority (Transport for West 
Midland) on a revenue cost neutral basis to the City Council and 
Transport for West Midlands for the operational management of the bus 
interchange. Any management arrangement for the bus interchange 
which does not result in a revenue cost neutral position for the City 
Council, shall be brought back to the Cabinet for approval.

10) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration and 
the Director for Finance and Corporate Resources, to undertake all 
necessary due diligence and to finalise the terms of the management 
arrangement for the bus interchange on a revenue cost neutral position.  

25. Grant of Lease Car Park C, Ricoh Arena 

Further to Minute 20 above, the Cabinet considered a private report of the Deputy 
Chief Executive (Place) that set out confidential aspects of proposals for the grant 
of a new long lease over Car Park C, Ricoh Arena, in order to facilitate the 
development of a hotel.

Page 15



– 14 –

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:  

1) Approves the grant of an initial licence over Car Park C, shown edged 
red on Plan 1 attached as Appendix 1 to the report, to WHL on income 
sharing terms to expire no later than 30th November 2019.

2) Approves the grant of a long lease of the area, shown edged red on Plan 
1 attached as Appendix 1 to the report, to WHL which shall be co-
terminus with the lease on the remainder of Ricoh Arena, to facilitate the 
development of the new hotel subject to planning consent for the 
development of a hotel being granted.    

3) Approves the grant of a car parking licence to WHL over the Leisure 
Land, shown edged red on Plan 2 attached as Appendix 1 to the report, 
in order to provide additional car parking to support the Ricoh Arena and 
to provide replacement car parking during the construction of the hotel.

4) Delegates authority to the Director of Project Management and Property 
Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Jobs and 
Regeneration, to finalise the terms of the licence and lease, subject to 
this report and for any subsequent variation in terms.  

5) Delegates authority to the Head of Legal Services to execute all the 
necessary documentation for the initial licence, option and lease referred 
to in this report.

26. Commercial Waste Expansion Plan 

Further to Minute 23 above, the Cabinet considered a private report of the Deputy 
Chief Executive (Place), that would also be considered by Council on 4th 
September 2018, that set out confidential aspects of proposals to conclude 
negotiations with Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council for the delivery of 
domestic recycling collections to the residents of the Nuneaton and Bedworth 
Borough, and the inclusion of the cost of purchasing five split bodied refuse 
vehicles in the 2018/2019 Capital Programme, to service this arrangement.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1) Approves in principle the Agency Agreement with Nuneaton and 
Bedworth Borough Council to allow the City Council to act as an agent 
to service the operation of their domestic recycling collection. 

2) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the 
Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for City Services, to give final approval to the 
Agency Agreement including the TUPE transfer of the existing 
operational team to the City Council. 

Page 16



– 15 –

3) Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the 
Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services, in consultation with 
the City Solicitor, to undertake all necessary due diligence and steps 
required to enter into the relevant legal agreements and associated 
documents necessary to complete the transaction.

4)   Recommends that Council approves that the sum now indicated is 
added to the Council’s 2018/2019 capital programme, funded from the 
on-going revenues of the NBBC agency agreement, for the acquisition 
of 5 new vehicles to be used to service the arrangements set out in this 
report.  

27. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 

There were no other items of private business.

(Meeting closed at 3.10 pm)

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet Report

Cabinet 28th August 2018
Council 4th September 2018

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership – Councillor G Duggins

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
All Wards

Title:
UK City of Culture 2021 – City Readiness

Is this a key decision?
No - this is a recommendation to Council    

Executive Summary:

On 5th December 2017, Coventry City Council committed £4.75m of Corporate Reserves for the 
UK City of Culture 2021 build-up programme, title year and legacy programme, to be drawn-down 
if the city was awarded the title.    On 7th December 2017, Coventry was awarded the title of UK 
City of Culture 2021 and on 10 July 2018 the Council approved £3.25m of reserve contributions as 
part of £5.05m of reserves to be set aside to meet the Council’s commitments to UK City of Culture 
and cultural events cost.  

Alongside the Council’s contribution to UK City of Culture build-up, title year and legacy 
programmes, the city has been reviewing the potential for a city readiness programme, aligned to 
Coventry 2021.  Ahead of City of Culture 2017, Hull developed such a readiness and legacy 
programme structured across themes of Place, Product, Positioning and People.  Designed to 
maximise the benefits of being awarded the title, a city readiness and legacy programme 
addresses the benefits of aligned investment in areas such as city infrastructure; destination 
promotion and marketing; cultural capital; skills and sector development. Hull City Council 
successfully used UK City of Culture as a catalyst to accelerate development and regeneration. 
Investment from its City Plan and first-in capital commitments to the Hull New Theatre and Feren’s 
Art Gallery allowed the city to lever significant national funding from Government via the Northern 
Powerhouse and from Heritage Lottery Fund for its museums.  Its investment in tourism also 
enabled the city to secure regional packages of funding from the Explore England Fund.  The report 
proposes that Coventry City Council invest in such a city readiness programme for Coventry.  

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



Recommendations:

Cabinet is requested to authorise:

1. That governance arrangements for the City of Culture readiness programme are delegated 
to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) in consultation with the Leader of the Council.

2. That delegated authority be given to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director 
Customer Service & Transformation to investigate an express route for the employment of 
the posts necessary to ensure City Readiness for both the City of Culture and the 
European City of Sport.

3. That a report is commissioned and brought back to Cabinet which identifies and captures the 
benefits of the City of Culture in terms of improved opportunities and outcomes for our 
communities and any resultant investment.

Cabinet is requested to recommend that Council:

1. Approve the addition of £5m to the capital programme for 2018/19 onwards for the 
development of a cultural capital investment programme in order to lever in external cultural 
and heritage monies in support of the Five Goals and Seven Big Ideas for Cultural Growth, 
as outlined in the Coventry Cultural Strategy 2017-2027. 

2. Authorise that the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services be given the delegated authority to approve all elements of capital expenditure 
associated with Recommendation 1 above.

3. Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services, following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance, 
to identify and bid for grant assistance, where available, that supports the aims of the City of 
Culture and the European City of Sport. The delegated authority given under this 
recommendation shall include the power to accept the terms and conditions of grant funding 
and the entering into all necessary legal agreements to secure the grant funding where the 
level is below the existing Council threshold of £2.5m. 

4. Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Streetscene 
and Regulatory Services, following consultation with the Cabinet Members for Policing and 
Equalities and Planning and Housing and the Chairs of Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
and Planning Committee, to explore opportunities to provide a one-stop shop for Planning, 
Building Control and Licensing services and simplify and streamline the decision making 
process to eliminate/reduce delays for development and events.

Council is recommended to:

1. Approve the addition of £5m to the capital programme for 2018/2019 onwards for the 
development of a cultural capital investment programme in order to lever in external cultural 
and heritage monies in support of the Five Goals and Seven Big Ideas for Cultural Growth, 
as outlined in the Coventry Cultural Strategy 2017-2027. 

2. Authorise that the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Finance and Corporate 
services be given delegated authority to approve all elements of capital expenditure 
associated with Recommendation 1 above.

Page 20



3. Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services, following consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance, 
to identify and bid for grant assistance, where available, that supports the aims of the City of 
Culture and the European City of Sport. The delegated authority given under this 
recommendation shall include the power to accept the terms and conditions of grant funding 
and the entering into all necessary legal agreements to secure the grant funding where the 
level is below the existing Council threshold of £2.5m.

4. To delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the Director of Streetscene 
and Regulatory Services, following consultation with the Cabinet Members for Policing and 
Equalities and Planning and Housing and the Chairs of Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
and Planning Committee, to explore opportunities to provide a one-stop shop for Planning, 
Building Control and Licensing services and simplify and streamline the decision making 
process to eliminate/reduce delays for development and events.

List of Appendices included:
None

Background papers:
None

Other useful documents:
The following papers are posted for reference on the Coventry City Council website: 
http://democraticservices.coventry.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1: 

1. UK City of Culture and European Capital of Culture – Briefing Note of the Executive Director 
of Place (Communities and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board (4), 14 January 2015).

2. Coventry Bid for UK City of Culture 2021 – Cabinet Report (14 July 2015)

3. Appointments of the City Council: Coventry City of Culture Trust (8 September 2015)

4. Coventry’s Bid for UK City of Culture 2021: Progress Update (December 2015) - Cabinet 
Report (9 February 2016)

5. Destination, Events and UK City of Culture - Business, Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny 
Board (3) (13 April 2016)

6. Coventry’s Bid for UK City of Culture 2021: Progress Update (June 2016) – Cabinet Report 
(5 July 2016)

7. Coventry’s Bid for UK City of Culture 2021: Progress Update (December 2016) – Cabinet 
Report (3 January 2017)

8. Coventry 2021 UK City of Culture Bid – Communities and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board 
(4) (6 September 2017)

9. Coventry’s Bid for UK City of Culture 2021 – Council Commitments – Cabinet Report (28 
November 2017)

10. Update on City of Culture 2021 – Communities and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Board (4) (25 
April 2018)

11. Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/18 – Cabinet Report (12 June 2018)

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
No 

Page 21

http://democraticservices.coventry.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other 
body?
No

Will this report go to Council?
Yes – 4th September 2018

Page 22



Report title: UK City of Culture 2021 – City Readiness

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The UK City of Culture programme was developed by the UK Government to build on the 
successes that Liverpool enjoyed as the UK’s second European Capital of Culture in 2008, 
through giving more cities the opportunity to access the benefits derived from bidding for a 
prestigious cultural title and the opportunity to be centre stage nationally. The UK City of 
Culture programme is focused on creating a national cultural event, spread over the course 
of a title year, concentrated in a particular city or area.  Derry-Londonderry was the first city 
to be awarded the UK City of Culture title (for 2013), Hull was the second UK City of Culture 
in 2017 and Coventry is to be the third UK City of Culture in 2021.  

1.2 In July 2015, Council approved that the Coventry City of Culture Steering Group lead 
development of a whole-city bid for the title of UK City of Culture 2021, in doing so putting 
together a realistic and credible bid budget and creating a special delivery vehicle to manage 
the bid process.   

1.3 The Coventry City of Culture Trust (‘the Trust’) was established in 2015 to lead the UK City 
of Culture bid on behalf of the city.  The Trust was subsequently formally incorporated and 
in February 2016 received charitable status.

1.4 In January 2017, the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) launched the 
competition for the title of UK City of Culture 2021 and published its Guidance for Bidding 
Cities. In February 2017, Coventry (along with ten other destinations) formally confirmed its 
intention to bid for the title. In April 2017, on behalf of the city, the Trust submitted Coventry’s 
initial bid document.   

1.5 In July 2017, Coventry was one of five destinations shortlisted for the title UK City of Culture 
2021 – along with Paisley, Stoke-on-Trent, Sunderland and Swansea.  On 7th December 
2021, it was announced that Coventry had been awarded the title of UK City of Culture 2021.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 Option 1 – Do Not Make Financial Commitments To a City Readiness Programme (Not 
Recommended)

2.2 Coventry’s successful bid for UK City of Culture 2021 set out a significant build-up 
programme of events, an ambitious range of artistic residencies, a varied and engaging 
programme in 2021 and a clear commitment to generating a transformative legacy. As a 
Principal Partner for the Bid, Coventry City Council had committed up to £250,000 towards 
the bidding process and in December 2017 committed a further £4.75m to support build-up 
programme, title year and legacy programme (across the period 2018 – 2024), to be drawn-
down if the city was awarded the title.  Following the announcement in December 2017 that 
Coventry’s bid had been successful, the Council subsequently (in July 2018) set aside 
£5.05m in reserves to meet its financial commitments to the City of Culture programme. 

2.3 The award of City of Culture 2021 to Coventry is projected to offer significant economic 
benefits to the city and its residents and to have a catalytic impact on regeneration proposals 
– delivering a direct economic impact of £350m through tourism volume and value; the 
development of cultural and creative SMEs; programme and marketing benefits; sustainable 
external arts sector investment; cultural capital investment and research. This impact figure 
somewhat prudently excludes the economic benefits that may be realised through the 
acceleration of aligned regeneration programmes totalling well over £2bn in value (such as 
Friargate, City Centre South and Cathedral Lanes).

Page 23



 
2.4 The Council has already made provision to meet its existing commitments to City of Culture 

programme and is not required through the bidding process to commit to investing further in 
development capacity, cultural capital, infrastructure development or jobs and skills. This 
approach is not, however, recommended if Coventry is to maximise the benefits of being 
awarded the title. Experience from previous Capitals and Cities of Culture indicates that 
investment in development capacity and the creation of capital funds to ‘match’ to external 
investment can support significant external investment in the city and lever in external grant 
funding. As the previous City of Culture, Hull aligned its readiness and legacy plans to the 
City’s economic plan and reports investment into the city of £3.4 billion since 2013, of which 
£216m relates to the World Class Visitor Destination strand of the Hull City Plan, in which 
the City of Culture project was located. One in four businesses in the city took on new staff 
in 2017 and the reported economic outcomes of City of Culture include at least £22m of 
projected Gross Value Added to the local economy and nearly 800 new jobs created in the 
creative and visitor economy in the three years leading up to 2017. In terms of investment 
activity, Hull reports £81.6m of ‘full attribution investments (i.e. where investment was highly 
unlikely without City of Culture); £137.9m of ‘partial attribution investments’ (where City of 
Culture is seen as an important factor in accelerating or increasing investment); and £297.1m 
of minor attribution investments (where investment is not directly linked to City of Culture but 
is attributed to an enhanced investment environment). These levels of economic outputs and 
outcomes are considered reflective of the alignment of City of Culture, the City Plan and the 
city’s readiness and legacy frameworks.  

2.5 Option 2 – Approve a Financial Commitment to a City Readiness Programme for Coventry 
(Recommended)

2.6 The award of UK City of Culture represents more than a title.  As the bidding process has 
demonstrated, it is an opportunity to create new partnerships, to build aspirations whilst 
bringing our communities together and to celebrate the rich heritage and unique qualities of 
a city.  It is also an opportunity, through culture, to raise the profile of a city, to attract new 
investors and to enable significant regeneration in and of the place. The city effectively has 
the benefit of the title for seven years from announcement, through delivery year to three 
years legacy.  Already, the city has realised over £28.5m of media coverage through the 
bidding and award processes.

2.7 Coventry has developed a partnership Cultural Strategy 2017-2027 which will endure and for 
which City of Culture can be an accelerant, a catalyst and a magnifier achieving wellbeing 
and economic outcomes.  With a £921m capital programme already in place from 2018 to 
2023, the City also has clear economic and regenerative goals to which City of Culture could 
make a clear and substantial contribution.  

2.8 The recommendations for the Council to invest £5m capital, and subject to approval in the 
formal budget setting process a further £6.1m in a city readiness and legacy programme for 
2018-2023, reflects the projected economic benefits of extending, accelerating and aligning 
wider investment in city and cultural development. The proposed areas of investment include:

 £5m Cultural Capital Investment:  To ‘match’ into a cultural capital programme with 
a projected total value (subject to securing external investment) of up to £90.1m.  This 
would form part of a projected Place capital programme of over £938m and rising.

 Culture, Heritage & Sports: Management and operational capacity to enable sector 
development opportunities and secure events, destination and sector delivery.  Small 
grants/development funding to support growth of creative industries and cultural 
sector legacy.

 Business Jobs & Skills: To ensure funding opportunities are maximised and local 
economic/business sector growth benefits are captured.

Page 24



 Planning and Building Control: To ensure prompt and effective processing of 
planning and building control services in the light of projecting increase in demand for 
services

 Licensing and Regulatory Services: To ensure safe and compliant delivery of key 
events programme plans and activities in build-up, delivery and legacy.  To provide 
proactively services that prioritise the health, safety and wellbeing of Coventry 
residents and visitors to the city and to streamline services for customers to avoid 
delays. 

 Cleaning and Greening: To raise and meet cleanliness standards up to and across 
a year of major public events and increased tourism, supporting residents feeling 
pride in their city and positively presenting the city to visitors.

 Public Realm, Infrastructure & Highway Improvements:  Staff resource to provide 
transport and highways infrastructure improvements (subject to award of capital 
grants or other capital resource) providing opportunities to change the image and 
perceptions of the city.

 Traffic Management: Capacity to provide resilience for the expected additional traffic 
and related activity on the city road network and to provide a seamless visitor 
experience for attendees of the cultural programme.  To include improvements to 
parking provision and access to key locations.

 Property Services: Developing and executing a city screen strategy to support digital 
wayfinding, programming and advertising.

 Programme and Project Management: to coordinate and manage capital 
programme and city readiness strands, including the showcasing of innovation, 
creative industries and culture-led regeneration. 

2.9 Income is expected to be generated from the following areas to offset against costs: 

 Licensing
 Parking Enforcement
 Street works inspection
 Highway inspection
 Planning & building control activity

2.10 Assumptions have been made around levels of income to reduce the expected cost, and are 
included in the planning figures presented in this report. It is also assumed that some services 
will be charged for or met from wider City of Culture budgets where this is agreed and is 
considered more efficient than recharging for services (e.g. cleansing for key planned 
events). It is envisaged that negotiations will take place with the City of Culture Trust to 
appropriately recharge the Trust for services provided to them by the Council. Other grant 
funding will also be sought to cover areas of identified costs.  Where this is not feasible 
however, the cost will not be incurred.

2.11 The approval of investment in a formal city readiness and legacy programme, comprising 
capital and revenue elements, positions Coventry to maximise the social and economic 
benefits from City of Culture 2021.  It is therefore proposed that this is the recommended 
option.  

Page 25



3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 Through Coventry’s City of Culture bidding process, over 13,000 people were directly 
consulted concerning the City of Culture plans. This consultation shaped and influenced 
programme, messaging and marketing.  

3.2 Over 109,000 people engaged in the city’s advanced programme through the City of Culture 
bidding process and social media reach has been extensive, with over 36,000 people directly 
following and supporting the City of Culture programme online.

3.3 The proposed City of Culture programme reflects the voice of communities.  For example, 
Coventry will plan to run a Streets of Cultures competition, celebrating 21 Coventry 
neighbourhoods in 2021.  Producers will support and empower local communities to curate 
festivals and commissions that showcase their culture: a street band, a public art 
commission, a storytelling festival – individual streets will be reinvented as new cultural 
spaces to be shared with the city.  

3.4 Since winning the title, the City of Culture Trust, with the support of partners (including the 
Council), has hosted a number of meetings and series of public events across the city (two 
in the city centre, one in Canley and one in Stoke Heath) to update on Coventry’s bid, 
preparation, programme and delivery plans and how the public, partners, schools and local 
businesses can contribute to, engage with and support Coventry 2021.  

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 If approved, readiness and legacy plans would be implemented with immediate effect and 
be supported to 2023.    

4.2 As outlined in Section 5, the Council’s financial commitments would be phased across the 
period from 2018-2024, pending the outcome of approvals as part of the Council’s formal 
budget setting process. 

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Resources 

5.1 Financial implications

Capital

The report seeks approval for a one off capital resource of £5m to help lever in external grant 
monies. Officers are aware of grant funding and investment opportunities that have already 
been secured through third parties up to a value of £47m. The largest of these relate to 
Warwick Arts Centre, Charterhouse and Drapers Hall. Further potential funding opportunities 
are known to exist for the Council to access grant from external bodies for example, Arts 
Council England, the Heritage Lottery Fund and the DCMS, however these would require a 
local match contribution.  Should members approval this proposal, the cost would require 
funding from corporate capital receipts.

Other bid funding applications are already in train, for example in relation to a WMCA 
application for funding towards public realm investment prior to 2021.
 
For context, the Place Directorate already has a very large capital programme with approved 
funding over the course of the period leading up to 2021 of almost £0.8billion.  The above, if 
secured, would add to this investment and result in a minimum investment programme 
leading up to 2021 of £0.9 billion, with the likelihood of rising further.

Page 26



Revenue

The report proposes an indicative net revenue cost of the City Readiness programme of 
£6.1m between the current financial year and 2022/23 as follows:

Net Revenue   £m
2018/19 0.1m
2019/20 1.5m
2020/21 1.8m
2021/22 2.2m
2021/23 0.5m
Total 6.1m

The report also proposes that officers commence the readiness programme, using existing 
officer delegated powers until such time as members have approved the wider programme 
of spend as identified above as part of the formal budget setting process and the approved 
Medium Term Financial Strategy.

In identifying the indicative programme, and in order to minimise cost, a number of 
assumptions have been made in respect of income and grant funding as referenced in 
paragraphs 2.9 and 2.10 of the report. These assumptions will need to be tested further and 
kept under continual review to ensure achievability.

A significant proportion of the proposed costs within the indicative programme relate to 
additional staffing requirements. It should be noted that any funding approved by members 
is expected to be of a temporary nature, therefore any staffing would need to be downsized 
at a later date.  This could result in one-off future staffing liabilities.
 

5.2 Legal implications

The Council has discretionary powers, in particular under Section 145 Local Government Act 
1972, to promote the arts and the crafts that support those arts as well as providing 
entertainments, libraries museums and art galleries. The promotion of a UK City of Culture 
bid and programme sits within these powers. It also has powers to promote economic 
development in its area and the creation of jobs and business opportunities and the making 
of a bid and delivering a successful bid programme fits with this power. 

In relation to any state aid implications, the Commission recognises that any public support 
for culture is rarely seen as being state aid, since they do not usually involve economic 
activities and where aid is involved it does not pose a threat to competition. Notwithstanding 
this position taken by the Commission, Legal Services will continue to work alongside other 
colleagues in ensuring that any decision taken in relation to City Readiness is undertaken in 
a legal and compliant manner to avoid any state aid and procurement challenges.

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council Plan?

As previously reported to Cabinet and Council, City of Culture 2021 and associated 
programmes will make wide-ranging contributions to delivery of the Council’s key objectives 
and corporate priorities.  The following are only a selection of potential contributions that 
Coventry 2021 and associated readiness and legacy programmes could make:

Page 27



 A prosperous Coventry – The City of Culture title can bring significant economic 
benefit to a city and its surrounding area.  Hull attracted major national investment 
towards its programme budget for 2017, with Arts Council England, Heritage Lottery 
Fund, Big Lottery (via Spirit of 2012), British Council and the University committed to 
the programme. The estimated value of tourism for Hull in 2017 was £300m, with an 
£11m-£17m estimated gross value added to the local economy from tourism growth.    
One in four businesses in Hull took on new staff in 2017 and the reported economic 
outcomes of City of Culture include at least £22m of projected Gross Value Added to 
the local economy and nearly 800 new jobs created in the creative and visitor 
economy in the three years leading up to 2017.  In terms of investment activity, Hull 
reports £81.6m of ‘full attribution investments (i.e. where investment was highly 
unlikely without City of Culture); £137.9m of ‘partial attribution investments’ (where 
City of Culture is seen as an important factor in accelerating or increasing 
investment); and £297.1m of minor attribution investments (where investment is not 
directly linked to City of Culture but is attributed to an enhanced investment 
environment). Derry/Londonderry reported more than 1 million visitors to the city in 
2013 and an increase of 20% in bed and breakfast and hotel bookings.  The city also 
attracted 30 business conferences to the city and 40 new business starts were 
supported by the Business Opportunities Fund.

 Healthier, independent lives – Cultural activity plays a vital role in addressing social 
challenges, reducing isolation, improving mental wellbeing and increasing physical 
activity. As a Marmot City we are committed to good jobs for local people via our 
economic growth and building resilience and aspiration in young people; which will 
have a lasting impact on reducing inequalities in health. UK City of Culture gives 
Coventry communities a once in a generation opportunity to engage as a participant, 
active observer or volunteer all of which will promote health and independence.     

Through Hull 2017, 8 out of 10 participants said that being part of a project made 
them happier and 34% reported improvements to self-esteem of children and young 
people.  There was also a 9% increase in the confidence of Hull residents to take part 
in or join in with cultural and non-cultural activities.

 Making Coventry an attractive and enjoyable place to be – Derry/Londonderry 
reported positive impacts on civic confidence and pride in its creative and cultural 
offer.  The city further saw physical assets created or refurbished in the city.  In the 
build-up to its City of Culture year in 2017, Hull experienced the acceleration of 
significant regeneration schemes and projects.  A public survey in the Hull Daily Mail 
identified that City of Culture was the single thing most people thought was putting 
Hull ‘on the map’.  In depth surveys by Lottery funder Spirit of 2012 further showed a 
positive impact on well-being, happiness and local pride in Hull’s population across 
2017. 

 Ensuring that children and young people achieve and make a positive 
contribution – Engagement with children and young people was a key element of 
the Coventry bid, opportunities to engage and inspire a generation exist.  In Hull 100% 
of schools participated in the City of Culture Programme   The Coventry City of Culture 
programme, build-up and legacy plans should generate a step-change in 
opportunities for young people and new graduates in the city across culture and the 
creative industries.  The Warwick Commission on the Future of Cultural Value (2015) 
noted that “the extraordinary cultural and creative talents that we share contribute to 
the well-being of our society, our economic success, our national identity and to the 
UK’s global influence.”  The Commission noted that not enough was being done to 
realise the creative potential of individuals, despite the workforce in this sector 
growing over four-times faster than the UK’s workforce as a whole.  The Coventry 
City of Culture programme, build-up and legacy plans should generate a step-change 

Page 28



in opportunities for young people and new graduates in the city across culture and 
the creative industries.  

 Encouraging a creative, active and vibrant city – The process of developing a City 
of Culture Bid has stimulated a new cultural narrative in Coventry and has supported 
the creation of a new partnership Cultural Strategy 2017-2027.  City of Culture, 
aligned with the Cultural Strategy, is already opening the city up to new artistic 
collaborations and investment.  The opportunity to generate a step-change around 
cultural tourism is apparent from baseline data along with outcome data from Hull.  
There is further a unique opportunity to stimulate a more diverse and vibrant cultural 
offering within the night-time economy of the city.

 Developing a more equal city with cohesive communities and neighbourhoods 
– The Diversity of Coventry is celebrated within the city and was a significant strength 
of our bid. The creative programme and volunteering opportunities presented by City 
of Culture can bring communities together and generate a greater sense of civic pride 
in the host city.  Liverpool reported that over two thirds of the city’s residents 
participated in their Capital of Culture programme of events and 85% of residents 
said the city was a better place to live as a consequence of hosting the year. Hull has 
reported that 90% of residents engaged with their City of Culture Programme.  The 
Warwick Commission (2015) further calls for a strategic shift in addressing 
unrepresentative levels of diversity and participation in the arts and culture.  
Coventry’s City of Culture programme could create a powerful platform for such a 
step change at a local level, where evidence suggests participation in the arts remains 
uneven across the city.   

6.2 How is risk being managed?

The Coventry City of Culture Trust led the Coventry bid, and is leading programme planning 
for 2021, with direct input from partners and Elected Members on the Board and from officers 
on the Executive Group.

The city readiness and legacy programme would be overseen by a City Readiness Board, 
chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and reporting to an Elected Members’ 
Advisory Board.  

A Place Directorate Programme Board has been established to monitor and review progress 
on key capital schemes impacting on Coventry 2021 and/or public realm and key city 
infrastructure.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

The Council is not the lead agency for City of Culture delivery but would be the lead partner 
for the city readiness and legacy programme recommended within the report and for 
providing advice on events safety and infrastructure, including transport and liaison with 
statutory services.  The Council is also acting as guarantor for the delivery programme.

The recommended investment in cultural capital and city readiness programmes includes 
allowances for increases in Council staff capacity to optimise the opportunities and manage 
these commitments.  It should be noted that this will require specific and in some cases 
accelerated support from some wider Council services (e.g. Human Resources, ICT, Legal 
Services) and there will still be additional opportunities for and demands placed on Council 
services as a consequence of programme decisions currently still at the planning stage within 
the City of Culture programme (e.g. Public Health, Welfare services).  However, any delay 
now in making decisions around sector development and capital proposals in order to 
consider the full implications of a confirmed programme for 2021 would negatively impact on 

Page 29



the city’s ability to secure and deliver key capital projects and external funding in time for 
2021.

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

The City of Culture Guidance for Bidding Cities requires cities to demonstrate a high quality 
cultural programme that reaches a wide variety of audiences and that uses culture and 
creativity to lead to lasting social regeneration through building engagement, widening 
participation, supporting cultural diversity and cohesion, contributing to the localism agenda 
and reaching out to sectors of the community who are disenfranchised and isolated.

The DCMS has further explicitly required that the winning city engages a wide range of 
audiences and participants, especially children and young people and under-represented 
groups and communities.

No potential adverse impact from winning the tile has been identified for any specific group. 
However, capacity assessment work through the bid indicated that Coventry could 
significantly and positively deliver equalities outcomes for a range of protected groups 
including young people; vulnerable people (economically disadvantaged); disabled people; 
people of black, Asian and minority ethnicity; women and older people.  Open events and 
workshops in Coventry have therefore purposely focused on engagement with wide and 
diverse audiences, and an outcomes framework has been developed (underpinned by 
baseline data).   

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

6.5.1 The proposed city readiness programme includes public realm works and potential capital 
developments. Where applicable, construction would be undertaken in accordance with 
Secured By Design principles. Modern construction materials would be utilised and would 
present a significantly lesser impact on the environment than materials that were historically 
used.  Site Waste Management techniques would be utilised and off-site manufacture would 
be prioritised wherever possible, thereby reducing reliance on water, minerals and other 
natural resources. Local contractors would be prioritised where appropriate and local 
specialised sub-contractors, suppliers and labour sources would also be utilised, wherever 
possible. If approved, the demolition and disposal of building materials from the affected 
areas would require an approved risk management and methodology strategy.  

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

6.6.1 Coventry City of Culture 2021 and the Coventry Cultural Strategy 2017-2027 are partnership 
initiatives developed through consultation with a range of stakeholders.  Approval and early 
implementation of key elements of both initiatives have given confidence to external funders 
that the city has clear cultural and wider city objectives and priorities for 2021 and legacy 
plans through to 2027. Further commitment to investing in culture and aligned regeneration 
should give assurance to external partners and should assist local partners when applying 
for external grant funding to deliver cultural regeneration, creative industry and cultural 
development in the city.

Page 30



Report author(s):
Name and job title:
David Nuttall, Head of Service – Sports, Culture, Destination and Business Relationships
David Cockroft, Director City Centre and Major Projects Development

Directorate:
Place

Tel and email contact:
Tel:  024 7683 2362 / Email:  david.nuttall@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/ approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance Services 

Officer
Place 07.08.18 08.08.18

Oluremi Aremu Major Projects Lead 
Lawyer, Legal Services

Place 27.07.18 03.08.18

Phil Helm Finance Manager (Place) Place 27.07.18 03.08.18
Colin Knight Director of Transportation 

and Highways
Place 02.08.18 03.08.18

Andrew Walster Director of Streetscene 
and Regulatory Services

Place 02.08.18 03.08.18

Richard Moon Director of Project 
Management and Property 
Services

Place 02.08.18 03.08.18

Karen Mihajlovic Senior Human Resources 
Manager

Place 02.08.18 03.08.18

David Ashmore Director of Customer 
Service and 
Transformation

People 02.08.18 03.08.18

Liz Gaulton Director Public Health and 
Wellbeing 

People 02.08.18 03.08.18

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(Officers and Members)
Martin Reeves Chief Executive - 07.08.18 07.08.18
Barry Hastie Director of Finance and 

Corporate Services 
Place 07.08.18 07.08.18

Julie Newman Head of Legal Services Place 07.08.18 07.08.18

Martin Yardley Deputy Chief Executive 
(Place)

Place 07.08.18 07.08.18

Councillor G Duggins Cabinet Member
for Community 
Development 

- 07.08.18 08.08.18

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings 

Page 31

mailto:david.nuttall@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet Report

Cabinet                                                                                                                   28th August 2018
Audit and Procurement Committee 10th September 2018

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources – Councillor J Mutton

Director approving submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
City Wide

Title:
2018/19 First Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to June 2018)

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive summary:

The purpose of this report is to advise Cabinet of the forecast outturn position for revenue and 
capital expenditure and the Council’s treasury management activity as at the end of June 2018. 

The headline revenue forecast for 2018/19 is an over spend of £2.0m. At the same point in 2017/18 
there was a projected overspend of £4.6m. 

This position continues to reflect overspends in several service areas that have been subject to 
budgetary pressure in recent years, notwithstanding that 2018/19 Budget proposals increased 
budgets in these areas. Although the quarter 1 overspend position is not as large as this time last 
year, the Senior Management Board is aware of the need to address the range of budgetary issues 
facing the Council including continued challenges in relation to looked after children and housing 
& homelessness related costs. 

The Council’s capital spending is projected to be £249.4m for the year, a net decrease of £13.1m 
on the programme planned at the start of the year. However, Cabinet is alerted to the possibility of 
significant capital slippage later in the budgetary cycle.

Recommendations:

Cabinet is recommended to:

1) Note the forecast revenue overspend at Quarter 1.

2) Approve the revised capital estimated outturn position for the year of £249.4m  incorporating: 
£5.7m net increase in spending relating to approved/technical changes and £0.3m overpend 
(Appendix 2),  £14.7m of expenditure rescheduled from 2017/18 into 2018/19 and £33.8m 
net rescheduling of expenditure into 2019/20 (Appendix 4).

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



2

Audit and Procurement Committee is recommended to:

1) Consider whether there are any comments they wish to be passed to Cabinet

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1 Revenue Position: Detailed Directorate breakdown of forecast outturn position
Appendix 2  Capital Programme: Analysis of Budget/Technical Changes
Appendix 3 Capital Programme: Estimated Outturn 2018/19
Appendix 4 Capital Programme: Analysis of Rescheduling 
Appendix 5 Capital Programme: Analysis of Overspend
Appendix 6 Prudential Indicators

Background Papers

None

Other useful documents:

None

Has it or will it be considered by scrutiny?

No

Has it, or will it be considered by any other council committee, advisory panel or other 
body?

Audit and Procurement Committee,  10th September 2018

Will this report go to Council?

No 

Page 34



Report Title:
2018/19 First Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to June 2018)

1. Context (or Background)

1.1 Cabinet approved the City Council's revenue budget of £234.8m on the 20th February 2018 
and a Directorate Capital Programme of £262.5m.  This is the first quarterly monitoring 
report for 2018/19 to the end of June 2018. The purpose is to advise Cabinet of the forecast 
outturn position for revenue and capital expenditure and to report on the Council’s treasury 
management activity. 

1.2 The current 2018/19 revenue forecast is an overspend of £2.0m. The reported forecast at 
the same point in 2017/18 was an overspend of £4.6m. Capital spend is projected to be 
£249.4m, an decrease of £13.1m on the original Capital Programme.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 Revenue Forecast - The forecast revenue overspend of £2m is analysed by service area 
below. 

Table 1 - Forecast Variations 

2.2 Explanation of Major Revenue Variations

A summary of the major forecast variances is provided below. Further details are shown in 
Appendix 1 tot the report.

Service Area

Revised 
Net 

Budget
Forecast 

Spend 
Forecast 
Variation 

 £m £m £m
Public Health 0.1 0.0 (0.1)

Place Directorate Management 1.4 1.4 0.0

Education & Inclusion 13.1 13.4 0.3

Children & Young People 73.9 75.4 1.5

Adult Social Care 75.6 75.6 0.0
Customer Services & 
Transformation 6.0 8.8 2.8

People Directorate Management 1.5 1.5 0.0
City Centre & Major Projects 7.8 8.2 0.4
Transportation & Highways 4.2 4.3 0.1
Streetscene and Regulatory 26.5 27.4 0.9
Project Management & Property (7.4) (7.8) (0.4)
Finance & Corporate Services 9.7 8.7 (1.0)

Contingency & Central Budgets 22.4 19.9 (2.5)

Total Spend 234.8 236.8 2.0

Page 35



4

The largest pressure relates to the estimated costs of supporting families and individuals in 
temporary and supported accommodation (£2.5m), this is as a result of a continued rise in 
homelessness cases, and cases where insufficient Housing Benefit subsidy can be claimed 
from the government; this is in addition to the £2.7m budget approved for 2018/19. A recent 
SMB decision has consolidated operational management of homelessness services under 
the Director for Transformation and Customer Services which means that this area will now 
reflect the financial pressures associated with the most volatile, demand-led budgets 
against which there are clearly pressures being recognised at a national level.  Although 
the specific financial pressure will present in this service area, both its causes and the 
necessary solutions to it, manifest themselves in multiple different service areas across the 
Council. As more detailed work is undertaken to design a programme of remedial actions 
and activities, it will be vital to create a series of metrics and performance management 
arrangements to properly measure the requirements and impacts of actions across this 
broader range of services on a corporate basis.  

There continue to be significant recruitment problems, and some of the budget holder 
pressure relates to agency staffing covering vacancies. There are currently in the region of 
50 agency staff in the People Directorate with the majority covering children's social worker 
posts as well as others to support increased demand in Housing and Homelessness and 
within the All Age Disability team whilst pressures in a number of Place Directorate service 
total c£0.9m. Agency staffing ensures service continuity whilst either staffing reviews take 
place, or in some cases where there has been an inability to recruit. The pressures are part 
funded from salary budget underspends and there are plans in place to fill as many of these 
vacancies as possible in year, which if successful will reduce the centralised salary 
underspend, and the budgetholder overspend; estimates in relation to this have been 
included in the forecast.  

People Directorate 

In addition to the pressures described above, the People Directorate continues to face 
significant financial challenges in the 2018/19 financial year. Whilst the overall position is a 
forecast £4.5m overspend an underspend of £5.6m on centralised salaries masks a 
significant overspend of £10.1m on other areas. 

Overall Looked After Children (LAC) placements is forecasting a balanced position. The 
LAC population has risen significantly over the last year, with average LAC numbers at 644  
in 2017/18 compared with 665 so far for 2018/19. This pressure was anticipated and 
additional budgetary resource was identified through the budget setting process for 
2018/19, in conjunction with Children's Transformation programme targets to deliver an 
overall lower unit cost within LAC placements;  at quarter 1 the service is on track to meet 
these targets, but have continued pressure within Supported Accommodation placements 
for careleavers.  

There is also a small continuing pressure within SEN transport of £0.3m which is a 
combination of an undelivered savings target, and increase in activity and price; a Strategic 
Transport group chaired at Director level continues to meet to review options for reducing 
expenditure in this area. Finally, within Adult Social Care there is significant pressure 
relating to increasing demand in Deprivation of Liberty safeguards (DOLs), with iBCF 
protecting social care resources being used to manage this.  

Page 36



5

Place Directorate 

In addition to the pressures described above, there are a number of material variations 
forecast for the Directorate in 18/19. The largest underspend of £1m relates to financial 
benefit from recovery of Housing Benefit subsidy grant relating to recovered overpayments. 
This broadly offsets to a number of pressures including a forecast £0.6m overspend in waste 
disposal which relate to a reduction in a recycling rebate from BIFFA of c£0.3m (after 
management action), and higher than expected increases in disposal tonnages as a result 
of the new collection arrangements of £0.3m. Also, following the decision to continue with 
the Godiva festival over a number of years, there is still insufficient budget for events.  This 
together with the rising cost of securing music acts is resulting in an estimated pressure in 
excess of £0.25m

Contingency & Central

Underspends totalling £2.5m are anticipated relating to the Asset Management Revenue 
Account (£1.1m) and other corporate budgets including the Kickstart financial model, the 
sports contingency and the Council’s WMCA contributions. The Council has received £1m 
of additional unbudgeted Adult Social Care Grant but is expecting £0.8m less resource to 
adjust for a Government error overstating the amount of 2018/19 compensation that it will 
receive for the Business Rates multiplier being capped.

2.4 Capital Programme
The 2018/19 Budget Setting report (Cabinet 20th February 2018) approved a total 
Directorate Capital programme for 2018/19 of £262.5m. Table 2 below updates the budget 
to take account of a £5.7m increase in the programme from approved/technical changes 
and an overspend of £0.3m. £14.7m of expenditure has been brought forward from 2017/18 
and £33.9m is now planned to be carried forward into future years. This gives a revised 
projected level of expenditure for 2018/19 of £249.4m.  Appendix 3 to the report provides 
an analysis by directorate of the movement since February.

The Resources Available section of Table 2 explains how the Capital Programme will be 
funded in 2018/19. It shows 54% of the programme is funded by external grant monies, 
whilst 38% is funded from borrowing. The programme also includes funding from capital 
receipts of £14.1m. Overall the Capital Programme and associated resourcing reflects a 
forecast balanced position in 2018/19.

Table 2 – Movement in the Capital Budget 

CAPITAL BUDGET 2018-19 MOVEMENT Qtr 1 Reporting
£m

February 2018 Approved Directorate Programme 262.5
Net rescheduling of expenditure from 2017/18 into 2018/19 14.7
Estimated Outturn Quarter 1 277.2
Approved / Technical Changes (see Appendix 2) 5.7
"Net" Overspending (see Appendix 5) 0.3
"Net" Rescheduling into future years (see Appendix 4) (33.9)
Revised Estimated Outturn 2018-19 249.4

RESOURCES AVAILABLE: Qtr 1 Reporting
£m

Prudential Borrowing (Specific & Gap Funding) 96.2
Grants and Contributions 134.0

Page 37



6

Final decisions on the funding of the programme will be made at year-end, based on the 
final level of spend and the level of resources available. These decisions will pay due regard 
to the need to earmark resources to fund future spending commitments. In recent years the 
Council has delayed prudential borrowing as a means of funding capital spend. However, 
£31m of Prudential Borrowing was incorporated within the 2017/18 resourcing position and 
it is important to be aware that significant amounts of borrowing have been approved to 
fund the 2018/19 and future programmes and this will come on-stream over the next few 
years. The revenue funding costs of this have been built into the Council’s forward financial 
plans.

2.5 Treasury Management Activity in 2018/19

Interest Rates

Current interest rate forecasts indicate that interest rates will go up by 0.25% to 0.75% 
imminently. However, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has tended to have a bias 
towards tighter monetary policy meaning a rate rise in the near future is not certain, 
especially when considering that the MPC’s primary target when deciding on interest rates 
is to keep inflation close to 2%. The latest inflation figures came in lower than expected at 
2.3%.

Long Term (Capital) Borrowing

The net long term borrowing requirement for the 2018/19 capital programme is £87.7m, 
taking into account borrowing set out in Section 2.4 above (total £96.2m), less amounts to 
be set aside to repay debt, including non PFI related Minimum Revenue Provision (£8.5). 
Although the Council’s recent Capital Programmes have incorporated prudential borrowing 
as part of the overall resourcing package, no long term borrowing has been undertaken for 
several years, due in part to the level of investment balances available to the authority.  
However, the anticipated future high level of capital spend combined with the new lower 
level of investment balances available mean that the Council will need to keep this under 
review over the next few years. The actual pattern of these factors and the level and 
expected movement in interest rates will dictate when the Council next seeks to borrow.

During 2018/19 interest rates for local authority borrowing from the Public Works Loans 
Board (PWLB) have varied within the following ranges:

PWLB Loan 
Duration 
(maturity loan)

Minimum 
2018/19 to 

P3

Maximum 
2018/19 to 

P3

As at the 
End of P3

5 year 1.87% 2.18% 1.99%

50 year 2.45% 2.73% 2.56%

The PWLB now allows qualifying authorities, including the City Council, to borrow at 0.2% 
below the standard rates set out above. This “certainty rate” initiative provides a small 
reduction in the cost of future borrowing.

Capital Receipts 14.1
Revenue Contributions 4.7
Leasing 0.4
Total Resources Available 249.4

Page 38



7

Regular monitoring continues to ensure identification of any opportunities to reschedule 
debt by early repayment of more expensive existing loans replaced with less expensive new 
loans. The premiums payable on early redemption usually outweigh any potential savings. 

Short Term (Temporary) Borrowing and Investments

In managing the day to day cash-flow of the authority, short term borrowing or investments 
are undertaken with financial institutions and other public bodies. The City Council currently 
holds £20m short term borrowing at an average interest rate of 0.92%.

Short term investments were made at an average interest rate of 0.66%. This rate of return 
reflects low risk investments for short to medium durations with UK banks, Money Market 
Funds, Certificates of Deposits, other Local Authorities, Registered Providers and 
companies in the form of corporate bonds.

Although the level of investments varies from day to day with movements in the Council’s 
cash-flow, investments held by the City Council identified as a snap-shot at each of the 
reporting stages were: -

As at 30th 
June 2017

As at 31st 
March 
2018

As at 30th 
June 2018

£m £m £m
Banks and Building Societies 23.4 4.4 22.3

Money Market Funds 26.9 2.5 8.0

Local Authorities 0.0 0.0 21.5

Corporate Bonds 10.4 5.4 4.0

Registered Providers 8.0 8.0 5.0

Total 68.7 20.3 60.8
 
External Investments

In addition to the above investments, a mix of Collective Investment Schemes or “pooled 
funds” is used, where investment is in the form of sterling fund units and non-specific 
individual investments with financial institutions or organisations. These funds are generally 
AAA rated, are highly liquid as cash, can be withdrawn within two to four days, and short 
average duration. The Sterling investments include Certificates of Deposits, Commercial 
Paper, Corporate Bonds, Floating Rate Notes and Call Account Deposits. These pooled 
funds are designed to be held for longer durations, allowing any short term fluctuations in 
return to be smoothed out. In order to manage risk these investments are spread across a 
number of funds.

As at 30th June 2018 the pooled funds were valued at £28.9m, spread across the following 
funds: Payden & Rygel, CCLA, Royal London Asset Management and Deutsche Bank. 

Prudential Indicators and the Prudential Code

Page 39



8

Under the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance authorities are free to borrow, subject 
to them being able to afford the revenue costs. The framework requires that authorities set 
and monitor against a number of Prudential Indicators relating to capital, treasury 
management and revenue issues. These indicators are designed to ensure that borrowing 
entered into for capital purposes was affordable, sustainable and prudent. The purpose of 
the indicators is to support decision making and financial management, rather than illustrate 
comparative performance.

The indicators, together with the relevant figures as at 30th June 2018 are included in 
Appendix 6 tot the report. This highlights that the City Council's activities are within the 
amounts set as Performance Indicators for 2018/19. Specific points to note on the ratios 
are:

 The Upper Limit on Variable Interest Rate Exposures (indicator 10) sets a maximum 
amount of net borrowing (borrowing less investments) that can be at variable interest 
rates. At 30th June the value is -£30.4m (minus) compared to +£89.1m within the 
Treasury Management Strategy, reflecting the fact that the Council has more variable 
rate investments than variable rate borrowings at the current time.

 The Upper Limit on Fixed Interest Rate Exposures (indicator 10) sets a maximum 
amount of net borrowing (borrowing less investments) that can be at fixed interest 
rates. At 30th June the value is £231.3m compared to £445.4m within the Treasury 
Management Strategy, reflecting that a significant proportion of the Councils 
investment balance is at a fixed interest rate.

2.6 Investment Framework

Local authorities are increasingly looking to invest in commercial ventures in order to secure 
a financial return, including property schemes, share purchase and the provision on loans 
to external organisations and some decisions made by the Council recently have reflected 
these changes.  Within this context, and in particular the risk associated with such 
investments, changes have been made to some aspects of the regulatory framework in 
which authorities invest, including: the Treasury Management Code; Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance and the statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision. However, the 
greatest change is through the revised government Statutory Guidance on Local 
Government Investments. In the main these changes relate to commercial investments 
outside the treasury area; in commercial property, shares and loans. The thrust of the 
changes is to extend to non-treasury investments some of the arrangements that apply to 
treasury investments, such as the production of a formal strategy, setting investment 
parameters, monitoring and reporting on risk, and strengthening the processes in respect 
of commercial investments funded by borrowing. The precise details of how these 
requirements will be addressed is currently being assessed at both a national and local 
level, and will be reported on in due course, as part 2018/19 in year monitoring and also 
2019/20 budget setting.

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 None

Page 40



9

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

4.1 There is no implementation timetable as this is a financial monitoring report.

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Resources

5.1 Financial Implications

Revenue

Following the challenging budgetary control position faced by the Council in 2017/18 and 
further Government grant cuts for 2018/19 the Council continues to face significant revenue 
pressures. The quarter 1 position reflects a forecast revenue overspend for the year of 
£2.0m compared with a projected overspend of £4.6m at the same point in 2017/18. Most 
service areas are being delivered within budget but there are  key areas of pressure relating 
to the costs of homelessness and supported accommodation, children’s staffing and 
Streetscene. 

The demand for and costs of Homelessness and Children’s Services is a problem common 
to a number of local authorities across the country and the Council recognised these issues 
when it approved further 2018/19 budgetary allocations in these areas in February 2018. 
Although options are currently being explored and implemented to deliver services within 
budget, the areas of overspend represent continued pressure on the 2018/19 revenue 
position and a risk to the medium term position. It remains imperative that actions continue 
to be taken to tackle the budgetary issues in these areas. 

At this stage of the financial year the overall bottom line position is challenging but 
manageable, subject to appropriate attention being given to managing the issues 
referenced in this report. However, concerns over the financial resilience of local authorities 
across the country is further sharpening the focus on the need to address financial positions 
over the medium term. As senior management and members begin to work in earnest on 
plans for 2019/20 Budget Setting, the Council is conscious of the need to work both across 
areas that are reporting overspends currently and other areas, to identify strategies to move 
towards a balanced medium term position. 

Capital

Capital forecasts continue to project very high levels of spend for the year at £249m 
compared with the initial budgeted position of £263m. However, only £11m of actual 
payments have been made by the end of June, the same as the equivalent point in 2017/18 
in which final spend for the year was just over £100m. This suggests that a massive 
acceleration is needed in order to achieve the level of expenditure projected currently for 
the 2017/18 Programme. 

As part of this picture, there are a number of initial project steps that have not been 
completed yet which will hamper progress on individual schemes until they are delivered. 
These include, but are not limited to, the completion of the Friargate JV deal, establishment 
of an anchor tenant for City Centre South, procurement in relation to the Battery Plant and 
the future of the former Woodlands School site. Unless progress is made on some of these 
areas in the near future, the collective positions outlined will make it very difficult to deliver 
the spend levels and project progress that is implied within the current forecast for 2018/19.  

Page 41



10

Members will be aware of the enormous challenge posed within the Council’s plans, both 
within the Capital programme but extending to other areas, not least the UK City of Culture. 
Steps have been taken to increase the level of project planning and officer monitoring in 
these areas but it will be essential that realistic assessments are made of what is deliverable 
at each stage. The financial position provides some early indications that in-year delivery of 
a sizeable part of the Capital Programme could be at risk and Cabinet is alerted to the 
possibility of significant capital slippage later in the budgetary cycle.

5.2 Legal implications

None

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan?

The Council monitors the quality and level of service provided to the citizens of Coventry 
and the key objectives of the Council Plan. As far as possible it will try to deliver better value 
for money and maintain services in line with its corporate priorities balanced against the 
need to manage with fewer resources.

6.2 How is risk being managed?

The need to deliver a stable and balanced financial position in the short and medium term 
is a key corporate risk for the local authority and is reflected in the corporate risk register. 
Budgetary control and monitoring processes are paramount in managing this risk and this 
report is a key part of the process.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

In quarter 1 there is a forecast overspend. The Council will continue to ensure that strict 
budget management continues to the year-end and will also need to manage overall 
financial resources to accommodate any overall year-end overspend. Any use of one-off 
resources to balance the final position means that these resources would not be available 
to use fund future spending priorities.

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

No impact

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

No impact

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

No impact

Page 42



11

Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
Paul Jennings 
Finance Manager Corporate Finance

Directorate: 
Resources 

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 024 7683 3753
Email: paul.jennings@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:

Michael Rennie Lead Accountant Place 23/7/18 26/7/18
Paul Hammond Accountant Place 23/7/18 26/7/18

Helen Williamson Lead Accountant Place 23/7/18 26/7/18

Michelle Salmon Governance 
Services Officer Place 26//7/18 26/7/18

Names of approvers: 
(Officers and Members)
Barry Hastie Director of Finance 

and Corporate 
Services

Place 27/7/18 6/8/18

Carol Bradford Lawyer, Legal 
Services Place 26/7/18 27/7/18

Martin Yardley Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place) Place 06/8/18 06/8/18

Councillor J Mutton Cabinet Member   
Strategic Finance 
and Resources

- 07/8/18 13/8/18

This report is published on the Council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/cmis

Page 43

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/cmis


Appendix 1 

Revenue Position: Detailed Directorate Breakdown of Forecasted Outturn Position
Appendix 1 details directorates forecasted variances.

Budget variations have been analysed between those that are subject to a centralised forecast and those 
that are managed at service level (termed “Budget Holder Forecasts” for the purposes of this report). The 
Centralised budget areas relate to salary costs – the Council applies strict control over recruitment such that 
managers are not able to recruit to vacant posts without first going through rigorous processes. In this sense 
managers have to work within the existing establishment structure and salary budgets are not controlled at 
this local level. The Centralised salaries and Overheads under-spend shown below is principally the effect of 
unfilled vacancies.

Directorate
Revised 
Budget

Forecast 
Spend After 

Action/ Use of 
Reserves

Centralised 
Forecast  
Variance

Budget 
Holder 

Forecast
Variance

Net 
Forecast 
Variation

£m £m £m £m £m
Public Health 0.1 0.0 (0.2) 0.1 (0.1)

People Directorate Management 1.4 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0

Education and Inclusion 13.1 13.4 (0.1) 0.4 0.3

Children and Young People's 
Services

73.9 75.3 (4.8) 6.3 1.5

Adult Social Care 75.6 75.6 (0.6) (0.6) 0.0

Customer Services & 
Transformation

6.0 8.8 0.0 2.8 2.8

Total People Directorate 170.1 174.5 (5.7) 10.2 4.5

Place Directorate Management 1.5 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0

City Centre & Major Projects 
Development

7.8 8.2 0.0 0.4 0.4

Transportation & Highways 4.2 4.3 (0.3) 0.4 0.1

Streetscene & Regulatory 
Services

26.5 27.4 (0.7) 1.6 0.9

Project Management and 
Property Services

(7.4) (7.8) (0.2) (0.2) (0.4)

Finance & Corporate Services 9.7 8.7 (0.2) (0.8) (1.0)

Total Place Directorate 42.3 42.3 (1.4) 1.4 0.0

Contingency & Central Budgets 22.4 19.9 0.0 (2.3) (2.3)

Total Spend 234.8 236.7 (7.1) 9.3 2.2

Resourcing (234.8) (235.0) 0.0 (0.2) (0.2)

Total 0.0 1.7 (7.1) 9.1 2.0

Page 44



Reporting Area Explanation £m
People Directorate The Directorates underspend against its salary 

budgets and turnover target is mainly due to high 
levels of vacancies in Childrens Social Care 
which accounts for £4.8m of the underspend. 
This is partially offset by a non salary overspend 
as a result of agency staff in Childrens Social 
Care. It is expected that vacancy levels and 
agency costs will reduce in year, which will 
reduce the centralised salary underspend, and 
the budgetholder overspend; estimates in relation 
to this have been included in the budgetholder 
forecast to ensure the total position is not 
understated at quarter 1.

(5.7)

Place Directorate A number of vacancies exist due to a 
combination of the inability to recruit to some 
posts and the holding of recruitment whilst 
reviews take place. Most reviews are now 
being implemented which will reduce this 
variation, and managers are working to 
recruit to the key posts where recruitment 
difficulties have been encountered

(1.4)

Total Non-Controllable Variances
 

(7.1)

People 
Directorate

   

Service Area Reporting Area Explanation £M
Public Health Other Variances 

Less that 100K
 0.1

Public Health   0.1
Education and 
Inclusion

Education 
Improvement & 
Standards

This underspend relates to historic pension liabilities. Other 
than inflationery increase, there are no new commitments 
to be incurred against this area, 

(0.2)

Education and 
Inclusion

Libraries, Advice, 
Health & 
Information 
Services

The position includes an overspend as a result of non-
delivery of outstanding Connecting Communities Library 
Savings. Further work continues on identifying in year 
savings to mitigate this. This is offset by an underspend on 
Migration which will contribute towards the council's net 
position, and temporarily offset any undelivered savings in 
2018/19. 

(0.2)

Education and 
Inclusion

SEND & 
Specialist 
Services

SEN Transport is forecasting a £0.3M overspend. This is 
based on current activity levels and the current cost of 
provision. Demand will be re-based in September and the 
release of the e-auction contracts will impact on the 
forecast. 
Educational Psychologists is forecasting a £0.2M 
overspend.  The EP service offers both a statutory and 
traded service.  At this point as a consequence of 
recruitment challenges, the traded element has been re-
prioritised towards the delivery of the Council’s statutory 
responsibilities.  The budget is in balance when the 
centralised salary budget is offset.  The service has been 
successful in recruiting additional capacity from September, 
and this is included in the forecast.

0.5

Page 45



14

Education and 
Inclusion

Adult Education To date it has only been possible to deliver £10k of a £200k 
financial savings target set as part of previous budget 
setting processes to ensure we maximise ESFA grant 
funding against internal training programmes

0.2

Education and 
Inclusion

Education 
Entitlement

Governor Services are forecasting a £0.1M overspend due 
to loss of income from schools moving to other providers. 
This overspend has not increased as staffing has reduced 
and 5 new schools have come on board. However, there is 
a gap in terms of the loss of 12 schools. This is being 
monitored and other income streams such as training and 
audits are now being offered. It is too early to say if this will 
have enough impact to bring this in line for the end of 
quarter 4.

0.1

Education and 
Inclusion

Other Variances 
Less that 100K

  

Education and 
Inclusion

  0.4

Children and 
Young People's 
Services

Children's 
Services 
Management 
Team

The service has delivered savings as a result of service 
changes (e.g. Youth Offending Service review). These 
contribute towards the delivery of the Children's Services 
Transformation programme, and offset against the 
overspend in other areas of the service. 

(0.2)

Children and 
Young People's 
Services

Commissioning, 
QA and 
Performance

The budget holder overspend is largely as a result of 
agency staff covering vacancies, and 4 additional posts that 
are currently being recruited to, to respond to concerns 
raised by OFSTED in relation to volume and quality of the 
work in the Safeguarding Service. Vacancies are being held 
across the service to fund the 4 posts, within the centralised 
salary forecast which offset the overspend.

0.2

Children and 
Young People's 
Services

Help & Protection The overspend largely relates to the costs of Agency staff 
covering posts across the service. This is partly offset by 
underspends across salary budgets, and includes the 
trajectory of a reduction in agency posts from September to 
align with an additional intake of newly qualified social 
workers. There is also a small overspend forecast as a 
result of supporting families with no recourse to public 
funds.

3.5

Children and 
Young People's 
Services

LAC & Care 
Leavers

This overspend partly also relates to the costs of Agency 
staff as above. There is also an overspend predicted on 
supported accommodation of £0.8M which as a result of a 
higher number of former LAC in supported accommodation 
than budgeted for. Work is underway as part of Children's 
Transformation to reduce this. Permanence allowance are 
forecasting a pressure of £0.3M.  There is also a forecast 
pressure on the unaccompanied asylum seeker budget of 
£0.3M - this relates to costs of former LAC who continue to 
receive support, where there is not grant funding to cover 
costs. LAC Placements overall is forecasting a £0.6M 
overspend on the budgetholder forecast, but this offsets to 
a corresponding underspend on the centralised forecast, 
which means it is forecasting a balanced budget overall at 
quarter 1. This includes the Children's Transformation 
trajectory of increases in internal fostering and residential 
placements, alongside corresponding decreases in external 
fostering and residential placements.

2.7

Children and 
Young People's 
Services

Other Variances 
Less that 100K

 0.1

Page 46



15

Children and 
Young People's 
Services

  6.3

Adult Social Care Adult Social Care 
Director

Use of iBCF Protecting Social Care resources to manage 
Adult Social Care pressures

(0.4)

Adult Social Care Older People 
Community 
Purchasing

Underlying budget pressures have reduced this year in part 
due to increased investment from Better Care Fund to 
cover cost pressures resulting from external influences 
such as sleep in rates, although pressures on budgets are 
still high. These mainly arise from social care market costs 
rather than increased demand. Management actions 
continue to ensure demand on  social care is managed in 
the most cost effective way to reduce overall costs. 
Focused efforts to manage approved packages through the 
panel process have ensured packages of care are robustly 
scrutinised before being approved.  Increasing our capacity 
for Promoting Independance approaches will further 
support management of financial pressures.

(0.4)

Adult Social Care All Age Disability 
and Mental 
Health 
Operational

There has been a significant increase in DOLs demand 
leading to addtional assessment costs (total £340k 
overspend). The All Age Disability Team has also seen 
increasing demand and a high turnover of staff leading to 
increased Agency costs (total £238k overspend) which is 
expected to reduce as substantive posts are appointed to.

0.6

Adult Social Care All Age Disability 
and Mental 
Health 
Community 
Purchasing

Underlying budget pressures continue to rise in part due to 
the continued increases in demand for complex social care 
support for eligible service users. Overall control 
mechanisms are in place to ensure expenditure is robustly 
managed.  Approval for packages are rigorously scrutinised 
at panel meetings with social workers required to explain 
their panel submission before approval is gained.   
Progammes in place to review some of the higher cost 
services and develop our approach to Promoting 
Independance which will further support the financial 
position.

0.4

Adult Social Care Internally 
Provided 
Services

The overspends on other pay, overtime and variable 
allowances are offset by underspends on  centralised 
salary costs due to a number of vacancies .                                                                      

0.3

Adult Social Care Older People 
Operational

Overall underspend with budget holder overspend pending 
recruitment to posts later in the year.

0.1

Adult Social Care   0.6
Customer Services 
& Transformation

Customer and 
Business 
Services

The Budget Holder Variance mainly comprises a £2.5M 
pressure in relation to the cost of supported 
accommodation and temporary accommodation for 
homeless families and individuals. There is also a circa 
£220K overspend in support of the Housing and 
Homelessness agenda (particularly the introduction of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act) - a combination of furniture 
storage costs and agency staffing. A revised staffing 
structure has been agreed - agency staff will continue to be 
needed during imlementation. Other overspends across the 
service are offset by early achievement of the Business 
Services savings target.

2.7

Customer Services 
& Transformation

Other Variances 
Less that 100K

 0.1

Customer 
Services & 
Transformation

  2.8

Total Non-
Controllable 

  10.2
Page 47



16

Variances - 
People

Place Directorate Place   
Service Area Reporting Area Explanation £M
City Centre & 
Major Projects 
Development

  0.4

Transportation & 
Highways

Traffic Anticipated expenditure on agency cover within Urban 
Traffic Control (offset by salary underspend) and 
pressures due to unrecoverable road traffic accident 
damages to assets, together with pressures on car park 
expenditure budgets offset by additional enforcement 
income overall for the service.

0.3

Transportation & 
Highways

Other Variances 
Less that 100K

 0.1

Transportation & 
Highways

  0.4

Streetscene & 
Regulatory 
Services

Planning & 
Regulatory 
Services

Building Control vacancies causing an £87k underspend, 
together with additional Planning Enforcement income of 
£50k is being forecast

(0.1)

Streetscene & 
Regulatory 
Services

Streetpride & Parks A number of vacancies are being covered by Agency 
staff, which together with a pressure relating to an under 
recovery of income from the car park at Coombe, are 
causing this forecast variation

0.8

Streetscene & 
Regulatory 
Services

Other Variances 
Less that 100K

  

Streetscene & 
Regulatory 
Services

  1.6

Project 
Management and 
Property Services

Other Variances 
Less that 100K

  

Project 
Management and 
Property Services

  (0.2)

Finance & 
Corporate Services

Revenues and 
Benefits

Financial benefit from recovery of Housing benefit 
subsidy grant relating to recovered overpayments. Partly 
offset by use of temporary resource to cover vacancies 
and fluctuating workloads (£250k)

(0.7)

Finance & 
Corporate Services

Financial Mgt The majority of the underspend relates to the full year 
impact of a staffing restructure delivered in 2017/18. 
Further savings have been delivered following a review of 
non-staffing expenditure across the cost centre.

(0.2)

Finance & 
Corporate Services

Legal Services Relates primarily to the cost of external barrister 
expenditure for advocacy work, together with the cost of 
agency cover for vacant posts & maternity cover

0.1

Finance & 
Corporate Services

Insurance Income pressure due to the net effect of the loss of 10 
school customers

0.1

Finance & 
Corporate Services

Other Variances 
Less that 100K

 (0.1)

Finance & 
Corporate 
Services

  (0.8)

Total Non-
Controllable 
Variances - Place 

  1.4

Page 48



Contingency & Central Budgets   
Service Area Reporting Area Explanation £M

Contingency & 
Central Budgets

Contingency & 
Central Budgets

An underspend of £1.1m is forecast for the Asset 
Management Revenue Account as a result of higher 

than anticipated  investment income (£0.5m) and 
lower than budgeted Minimum Revenue Provision 
(capital financing) charges (£0.6m) following lower 

than expected borrowing in 2017/18.  Other 
underspends totalling £1m are anticipated from an 
overachievement on the Kickstart financial model, 
savings within sports contingency budgets and a 

lower than budgeted contribution to the WMCA. In 
addition the Council has received £1m of additional 

unbudgeted Adult Social Care Grant. Set against this 
the Council will receive £0.8m less resources than it 

had budgeted for following Coventry (and a large 
number of other councils) being informed of a 

Government error that led to an overstatement of the 
amount of 2018/19 compensation that it will receive 
for the Business Rates multiplier being capped. The 

Government is insisting that the adjusted amount will 
apply in 2018/19 and this is resulting in a financial 

detriment to Councils.

(2.3)

Total Non-
Controllable 
Variances -

Contingency & 
Central Budgets

  (2.3)

Page 49



18

Appendix 2

Capital Programme: Analysis of Budget/Technical Changes

SCHEME EXPLANATION £m

PEOPLE DIRECTORATE  

Basic Need When the budgets were set for 18/19, the anticipated Basic 
Need Grant was £7.3m. The actual allocation is £7m so the 
programme has been adjusted accordingly.

-0.3

SEND New Grant confirmed by DFE for 18/19 programme 0.8

Healthy Pupils Funding New Grant confirmed by DFE for 18/19 Programme 0.2

Early Years 30hr Places The funding was received in 17/18, but due to the short 
timescale to deliver the schemes a report was sent to DFE 
asking for an extension, the schemes are now in the 
process of starting

0.6

SUB TOTAL - People 1.3

PLACE DIRECTORATE

Highways Investment

The 2017/18 Winter period saw prolonged spells of cold 
weather conditions not experienced for several years, 
followed by a period of exceptionally wet weather in March. 
This in turn had an adverse effect on the road network, 
significantly increasing the number of localised defects 
which required repair, in order to keep the Highway in a safe 
condition and meet the Councils Statutory requirements.The 
increase in defects has led to a backlog in both numbers of 
defects and an impact on repair response times.                                                                                                                    
This potentially increases the risk of claims for both vehicle 
damage repair costs, and more significantly, for personal 
injury claims against the Council.  Given the critical nature 
of this service, the Cabinet Member for City Services 
requested that extra resource be engaged and targeted to 
reduce both the number of aged defects and improve repair 
response time.                                                                                                                                                                              
Extra resource have been in place from April 2018 and it is 
anticipated that this will continue until end of September 
2018.  Costs currently sit with revenue, so in order to 
minimise and manage down the impact on revenue, a 
virement of 360k has been made from the grant funded 
capital maintenance area.                                                                           
This pressure will be managed through value engineering 
opportunities and possible curtailment of delivery of part of 
the capital programme. Any curtailment and non-delivery of 
schemes will be deferred and delivered via the 2019/20 
programme. There is also further opportunity to reduce the 
impact on Capital currently forecast, by way of fees 
generated from third party works which are delivered by the 
Highways Operations team.   

-0.4

Air Quality

The City Council has been successful in obtaining funding 
to help reduce NO2 levels, this includes £2.021m Early 
Measures and £1.5m Clean Bus Technology funding as 
reported in the Coventry Local Air Quality Action plan that 
went to cabinet on 17th July 2018.

2.9

Page 50



19

OLEV Taxi Infrastructure

As per the ULEV Taxi Infrastructure Scheme report that 
went to Cabinet on 13th february 2018, this represents the 
estimated spending this financial year of the total £2m 
funding.

1.0

ESIF - Low Carbon
De-commissioned some of the Capital grant, therefore the 
total budget has been reduced from the original 
profile/budget

-0.4

ESIF - Innovation

On the Innovation programme, the existing capital forecasts 
are based on a Change Request that was approved by 
MHCLG in January 2018 and entailed the reduction of the 
overall capital grants fund and proportional increase in the 
revenue grants fund.  The capital grants fund will be claimed 
in full by the end of Q3 2018/2019.

0.6

Wheler Road
As approved at Cabinet on 12th June 2018, this addition is  
for the acquistion of Wheler Road Seven Stars Industrial 
Estate

0.9

Children’s Residential Care 
Provision/refurb/

At Cabinet in March 2017, it was agreed to sell The Grange  
and use the proceeds towards the cost of purchase and 
refurbishment.   The increase in programme represents the 
forecast costs for the final purchse and refurbishment of the 
3 new sites.

0.7

National Battery Manufacturing 
Development Facility - 
Faraday Challenge

Technical adjustmnet to updated programme for the 
reduction in grant awarded from the orginal bid -0.9

SUB TOTAL - Place 4.4

TOTAL APPROVED / 
TECHNICAL CHANGES

 5.7

Page 51



20

Appendix 3

Capital Programme: Estimated Outturn 2018/19

The table below presents the revised estimated outturn for 2018/19.

 

DIRECTORATE

ESTIMATED 
OUTTURN  
BUDGET 
SETTING

£m

APPROVED / 
TECHNICAL 
CHANGES

£m

OVER / UNDER 
SPEND NOW 
REPORTED

£m

RESCHEDULED 
EXPENDITURE 

NOW 
REPORTED

£m

REVISED 
ESTIMATED 

OUTTURN 17-
18
£m

PEOPLE 27.4 1.6 0.0 (0.7) 28.4

PLACE 249.8 4.0 0.3 (33.2) 220.6

TOTAL 277.2 5.7 0.3 (33.9) 249.4

Page 52



21

Appendix 4

Capital Programme: Analysis of Rescheduling  

SCHEME EXPLANATION £m

PEOPLE DIRECTORATE  

Planned Condition 
Final Condition Maintenance Programme submitted by Schools was £100k 
over original forecast.  We have excelerated spend to reflect this from the 
19/20 contingency funds

0.1

Dol-y-Moch

In March 2016 Cabinet approved £500,000 prudential Borrowing for the 
investment in expansion of works at Plas Doly Moch for completion 2017/18.    
Costing of these works and additional funds are still being sought, and unlikely 
that progress will be made this financial year

-0.6

Suitability /Access

The budget was set each year at £250,000, in 2017/18 the project only spent 
£20,000 and the remaining budget was excelerated into 18/19.  Projects 
submitted for 18/19 have been submitted for approx £100,000 so the budget 
has been amended accordingly.

-0.2

SUB TOTAL - People 
Directorate  -0.7

PLACE DIRECTORATE   

UK Central & 
Connectivity - 
Coventry South 
Package - A46 Link 
Road

The  scheme construction for A46 Link Road Phase 1 has been delayed to 
commence early 2019, this is due to confirmation of funding, completion of 
statutory process that include submission of Full Business Case to DfT. Also due 
to prioritisation of resources focusing on phase 1, this has had an impact on 
development work for Phase 2 falling behind than originally programmed. 
Phase 3 work has now been deferred until 2019. These combing factor have 
resulted in £13m rescheduling.

Highways England has secured funding from RIS1 for the Binley scheme, hence 
this funding has not been required - potential reallocation to other projects is 
being investigated with the WMCA.

Tile Hill Station Car Park expansion is a TfWM led project, planning submission 
has taken longer to prepare than planned, with scheme delivery planned for 
2019-20, resulting in £3m rescheduling.

-18.1

UK Central & 
Connectivity - City 
Centre First - City 
Centre Place Plus

Due to project management resources not being in place the commissioning of 
the feasibility study has been delayed and is only currently commencing. -1.8

UK Central & 
Connectivity - Very 
Light Rapid Transit - 
Coventry Shuttle

The contract for Vehicle development was awarded to TDI in March 2018. 
However, Intellectual Property Rights proved difficult to agree and therefore 
the contract was signed in June 2018 once an agreement between all parties 
was reached. Consequently, this delayed the start of the R&D phase of vehicle 
development, which is now due to commence in early July 2018. In addition, 
the route design work has not commenced yet due to a slippage in the 
conclusion of the BCR work. This is expected to be complete in July 2018 and 
outline design of the first route will commence in Q3.
 
This means that the Q1 forecast of £475k spend has not been achieved. As there 
has been no activity in terms of vehicle development or route design, only £88k 
expenditure is anticipated this quarter. The project has been reprofiled to 
reflect the delay to programme.

-2.0

Page 53



22

City Centre 
Regeneration

The increased forecast at q1 is due to an anticipated acceleration of the 
demolition of Coventry point following the Council’s early acquisition of 
Aviva’s interests in the city centre

0.2

Transportation S106 
Schemes

All section 106 schemes have been reviewed along with resources required to 
deliver the programme and a new delivery profile has agreed to ensure we 
deliver the schemes within the S106 conditions and timescales.

-0.3

Public Realm Phase 

The slippage on the spend and works for the PR5 scheme is mainly due 
to the delays associated with the requirement to undertake a List 
Building Consent application along with formalising the scope and 
extent of works. Working closely with Shearer Property Group the 
proposals have been refined to suit the forthcoming application and 
provide assurances to the planning dept. Furthermore following 
additional investigation it has been established that additional drainage 
design has been required.

-3.2

Growing Places

These Business Grant programms have come to end, with the 
businesses not expending all the forecast spend resulting in some 
unallocated funding. These unallocated funds have been reassigned to 
new projects by the CWLEP, to be spent in future Financial years

-0.2

Coventry Station 
Masterplan

The overall project is slipping by 3 months due to delays in the 
completion of contact award for the footbridge and canopy.  

0.7

Vehicle & Plant 
Replacement 

Due to the age, condition, and operational requirements, the purchase 
of a number of refuse vehicles has been moved forward into the 
current financial year. This expenditure has been partly offset by a re-
evaluation of a number of other vehicles including minibuses, and 
mowers, and as a result of this, their purchase has been re-scheduled 
for future years.

0.4

Alan Higgs Centre - 
50m Swimming Pool

The £1.9m rescheduling on the Alan Higgs project is due to a 5 month 
delay in the commencement of construction that was originally 
intended to commence in December 2017, to allow continued usage of 
the existing indoor football barn

-1.9

Multi Storey Car Parks With the movement of the site commencement date by 3 month the 
anticipated cashflow for the main contract works will now further 
overlap the financial years 18/19 & 19/20

-0.6

Housing Venture
Whitefriars have been slow progressing matters as a number of key 
personal have left which has delayed development.

-0.4

Miscelleaneous Schemes with slippage under £100k -0.2

Whitley South 
Infrastructure

As reported at the end of 17/18 the project start was delayed due to 
detailed tender requirements, majority of the reschuduling will not be 
required until next financial year, this change bring the programme 
inline with predicted cashflows.

-4.4

Page 54



23

SUB TOTAL - Place 
Directorate  -33.2

TOTAL 
RESCHEDULING  -33.9

Page 55



24

Appendix 5

SCHEME EXPLANATION £m

PLACE DIRECTORATE   

Challenge Fund - 
Swanswell Viaduct

The current forecast outturn position for the Swanswell Viaduct 
programme is £6,997k. This is an increase of £347k since the last 
report. Further to the reasons outlined within the last report 
additional costs have been incurred due to:-

• Target price increase of £230k as a result of site conditions such 
as severe weather in March (£83k) and discrepancies in surveys 
resulting in delays and re-work.
• The Contractors construction contract costs have increased 
£770k, although the city council’s exposure is not the full amount 
due to the pain/gain mechanism in the contract.
It should be noted that even with above changes the construction 
only costs (£5.3m) is still below independent valuations (£5.7m) 
for the scheme presenting value to the city council.

The additional overspend, over and above that reported 
previously, will require further resourcing from Highways 
Investment over the next 2 years.

0.3

   
SUB TOTAL - Place 
Directorate

 0.3

TOTAL Overspend  0.3

Page 56



25

Appendix 6

Prudential Indicators

Indicator
per Treasury 
Management 

Strategy

As at 30th 
June 2018

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream (Indicator 1), illustrating the 
affordability of costs such as interest charges to the overall City Council bottom 
line resource (the amount to be met from government grant and local 
taxpayers).

13.83% 13.36%

Gross Borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the estimated 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) at the end of 3 years (Indicator 3), 
illustrating that, over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowing less 
investments) will only be for capital purposes. The CFR is defined as the 
Council's underlying need to borrow, after taking account of other resources 
available to fund the capital programme.

Year 3 
estimate / 

limit of 
£551.9m

£357.3m
Gross 

borrowing 
within the 

limit.

Authorised Limit for External Debt (Indicator 6), representing the "outer" 
boundary of the local authority's borrowing. Borrowing at the level of the 
authorised limit might be affordable in the short term, but would not be in the 
longer term. It is the forecast maximum borrowing need with some headroom 
for unexpected movements. This is a statutory limit.

£513.2m

£357.3m
is less than 

the 
authorised 

limit.

Operational Boundary for External Debt (Indicator 7), representing an "early" 
warning system that the Authorised Limit is being approached. It is not in itself 
a limit, and actual borrowing could vary around this boundary for short times 
during the year. It should act as an indicator to ensure the authorised limit is 
not breached.

£493.2m

£357.3m
is less than 

the 
operational 
boundary.

Upper Limit on Fixed Rate Interest Rate Exposures (Indicator 10), highlighting 
interest rate exposure risk. The purpose of this indicator is to contain the 
activity of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby reducing the risk 
or likelihood of an adverse movement in interest rates or borrowing decisions 
impacting negatively on the Council’s overall financial position.

£445.4m £231.3m

Upper Limit on Variable Rate Interest Rate Exposures (Indicator 10), as above 
highlighting interest rate exposure risk. £89.1m -£30.4m

Maturity Structure Limits (Indicator 11), highlighting the risk arising from the 
requirement to refinance debt as loans mature:
< 12 months 0% to 40% 13%
12 months – 24 months 0% to 20% 3%
24 months – 5 years 0% to 30% 13%
5 years – 10 years 0% to 30% 8%
10 years + 40% to 100% 63%

Investments Longer than 364 Days (Indicator 12), highlighting the risk that the 
authority faces from having investments tied up for this duration. £18m £0.0m

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet Report

Cabinet 28th August 2018

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities - Councillor E Ruane

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (People)

Ward(s) affected: 
All

Title: Award of a Grant to Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre

Is this a key decision?
Yes - As the decision involves awarding of funds that will have a significant impact across more 

than 2 electoral wards in the city. 

Executive Summary:

Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre (CRMC) offers advice and support to asylum seekers, 
refugees and migrants. The Centre has received funding from Coventry City Council since 2003. 
In April 2016, Cabinet Member (Community Development, Co-operative and Social Enterprise) 
approved the award of a two year grant of £387,752 per annum for the period October 2016 - 
September 2018. It was also agreed that a service review would be undertaken to ensure 
alignment of refugee support in the city and that a progress report would be provided 12 months 
after the grant was awarded. This report reflects the full review of the grant for the Centre that has 
now been completed, with findings presented in this report.

Recommendations:

Cabinet is requested to:

1)             Approve the award of a grant to the Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre at the existing 
grant levels until 31st March 2021. This will be subject to break clauses and annual review 
as part of budget setting. 

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1- Case Studies
Appendix 2 – CRMC Review Recommendations 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



2

Background papers:

None

Other useful documents

Report Submitted to Cabinet Member for Community Development, Co-operatives and Social 
Enterprise on 14th April 2016 
http://democraticservices.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=655&MId=10831&Ver=4

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No 

Page 60

http://democraticservices.coventry.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=655&MId=10831&Ver=4


3

Report title: Service Review of the Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre

1. Context (or background)

1.1. With Coventry’s longstanding history of migration, being an asylum dispersal city and 
more recently being a designated ‘City of Sanctuary’, a large number of migrants have 
been welcomed here.  Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre (CRMC) offers vital support 
to asylum seekers, refugees and migrants across the city. The service supports a diverse 
range of people, many of whom do not speak English and some who have escaped 
violence and persecution in their own countries. The Centre aims to prevent 
homelessness and destitution, helps people make a positive contribution to the city, 
supports access to employment opportunities and encourages integration. With the recent 
changes in legislation around immigration and the uncertainties of the UK leaving the 
European Union, challenges faced by refugees and migrants will continue. The numbers 
of destitution cases in the city has already seen a sharp rise. With this in mind it is 
important to keep specialist support services in place preventing pressures which would 
otherwise would fall onto statutory services. 

1.2. The Centre has received funding from Coventry City Council since 2003. In April 2016, 
the Cabinet Member (Community Development, Co-operatives and Social Enterprise) 
approved the award of a two year grant of £387,752 per annum for the period October 
2016-September 2018. It was also agreed that a service review would be undertaken to 
ensure alignment of refugee support in the City and that a progress update would be 
brought back to the Cabinet Member (Community Development) 12 months after the 
grant was awarded. Since the last report in November 2017 the Centre has relocated to 
Norton House in the Hillfields area of the city. This report provides findings and 
recommendations of the full review recently carried out with respect to services provided 
at the Centre. 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1. Option 1: Reduce the funding: This option has been carefully considered in the light of 
the data over the last 3 years reflecting:

1) Increase in complex needs of this client group due to changes to immigration policies.
2) The wider impact that the withdrawal or reduction of this funding will have on the 

wider services provided in the city including community cohesion and homelessness.

This has further been evidenced through case studies provided by the centre attached to 
the report as appendices. Hence, this option is not recommended. 

2.2. Option 2: Continue funding at existing levels alongside targeted changes to some 
elements of service delivery with some funding identified being utilised to improve the 
infrastructure and management of the Centre. 

This is the recommendation proposed for approval by the Cabinet. This option is supported 
by the recent Migrant Needs Assessment findings that included voluntary sector views on 
the services provided by the Centre and the value of these services for this client group.

2.3. Service Review Findings

2.3.1. A review of the services provided by the Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre was 
undertaken between October 2017 and March 2018 by reviewing data from across the 
various services offered by the Centre as well as getting feedback from the clients and 

Page 61



4

partners across the sector. This also includes an analysis of costs for the Centre as well 
as evidence from stakeholder, service user and staff consultation.

2.4. Key Customer Demographics: 

2.4.1. A total number of 2,066 people were supported for the period of *2017/18 and 2,372 in 
2016/2017. 

 28% are new clients starting support in 2017/18 compared to 48% in 2016/17. This is 
broken down as below for 2017/2018: 
o 75% were self-referrals, or those who heard about the service through word of 

mouth or family and friends.
o 27% were asylum seekers, 42% were refugees, 21% were EU migrants and 10% 

of clients were classed in another category for immigration status.
o 59% were male and 41% were female.

 The majority of clients are young adults aged between 18 and 39 years. 37% of new 
clients were aged between 18 – 29, 31% aged between 30 – 39, 20% in the 40 – 49 
age bracket, 8% aged between 50 – 59. 2% were under 18 and the remaining 2% were 
over 60.  

 The main countries clients came from were Eritrea, Iraq, Iran, Afghanistan and Sudan.
 New clients predominantly live in CV1 (22%) and CV6 (26%) postcodes. The remainder 

of clients reside in CV2 (17%), CV3 (11%) with other CV post codes making up 7% of 
clients. 12% of clients have no fixed abode, with the remaining 5% categorised as 
“other”.

2.4.2. The main issues customers required support with were:
 Home Office and Immigration
 Benefits
 Destitution
 Asylum Support
 Housing 


*Note: all years are reported from April to March as financial years.

2.5. Destitution:

2.5.1. Definition: someone lacking possessions and resources; especially : suffering extreme 
poverty

2.5.2. The number of destitute cases has increased by 109% from 2015/16 to 2016/17 with 
numbers increasing from 337 to 704 and has further increased by 72% to 1,210 in 
2017/18. Destitution is closely linked to broader poverty. 

2.5.3. The recent changes in legislation have seen further restrictions in some policy areas and 
therefore may have impacted directly on the rise of destitution cases seen in the city. A 
report conducted on destitution in the UK by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2016) 
found that tackling destitution requires action on the fundamental drivers of poverty (e.g. 
unemployment, low pay and high living costs), as well as better emergency support for 
those in crisis. Policy areas that have an important impact are debt, immigration, asylum, 
housing, homelessness, mental health, addictions, and complex needs, all of which 
greatly affect groups of migrants. This especially affects those faced with compounding 
difficulties, including benefit eligibility restrictions and levels, lack of access to the UK 
labour market, and limited social networks and knowledge about UK support systems. 

Page 62



5

2.5.4. The destitute cases being supported by the Centre are either:  
 

a) Short term - where clients have received their leave to remain and are waiting for the 
benefit process to be completed. Some of the headline issues have been 
homelessness, no National Insurance number, or CRMC assisting in obtaining 
documentation from the Home Office in order for support to be provided from other 
organisations. 

b) Long term – where clients have been refused leave to remain but the Refugee Centre 
consider there are grounds for appeal. Headline issues include those who have no 
recourse to public funds and supporting clients whose support under Section 95 
Immigration & Asylum Act 1999 [Section 95 support can take the form of subsistence 
only (i.e cash only support) or if the asylum seeker doesn’t have somewhere to stay 
pending their asylum claim, accommodation and subsistence support] or Section 4 
Immigration & Asylum Act 1999 support [those who receive support under this 
section are generally provided with accommodation and a payment card that can be 
used to buy food and other essential items.] has not started from the Home Office yet. 

2.5.5. In all circumstances the grant assists with food, sanitation related products as well as 
travel and medication costs.

2.6. Levels of Demand: 

2.6.1. An analysis of data between 2015/16 and 2017/18 shows an increase in demand for the 
services within CRMC and with migration across the city. The number of individuals 
supported by the centre has only marginally increased between 2015/16 and 2017/18 
(with a large increase seen in 2016/17 and subsequent decrease). With fewer clients 
through the door, the number of appointments offered have seen an increase with staff 
spending more time with these clients (see case studies). The reasons are largely due to 
changes to immigration legislation specifically around asylum support. As a result 
individuals are returning for support with increasingly complex issues, hence needing 
support over a longer time period than the centre has previously experienced. Please also 
see details above re increase in destitute cases. Consequently the overall number of 
hours spent on supporting the customers has increased and hence the value for 
money continues to be delivered by the centre.

2.6.2. Total Number of appointments: The total number of appointments offered to clients has 
seen an increase of 12% from 2015/16:

Page 63



6

2.6.3. Number of individual people supported: The number of individual people supported rose 
by 4% from 2015/16 to 2017/18: 

2.6.4. Number of times all units/services have been accessed by clients: Due to complex needs, 
some clients may access more than one service, the below graph shows the trend from 
2015 -2018 showing a slight decrease of 3% after rising in 2016/17.

2.6.5. Migrant Needs Assessment: 59 respondents (with over 50% being third sector 
organisations) from the Coventry Migrant Needs Assessment online stakeholder 
questionnaire indicated that there had been an increase or significant increase in demand 
for their services from economic migrants/students, asylum seekers, refugees, and 
irregular/undocumented migrants and resettled families over the last 12 months.

2.6.6. A similar pattern emerged with respect to what respondents thought was likely to happen 
to demand for services over the next 12 months. This is further supported by ONS data 
(2016) stating that the UK population is projected to increase by 3.6 million (5.5%) over 
the next 10 years, where England is projected to grow the quickest compared to other UK 
nations. 54% of this growth is projected to be a result of net international migration 
whereas the remaining 46% is a result of more births than deaths.

Page 64



7

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1. Stakeholder, Service User and Staff Consultation Findings:

3.1.1. The review findings have shown there has been an increase in demand for CRMC 
services over the past 3 years (increase in number of appointments with very small 
increase in numbers of individuals being supported). Feedback from stakeholders, service 
users and staff has generally been positive but there have been suggestions for areas of 
improvement from all 3 groups.

3.2. Stakeholder Feedback:

3.2.1. A total of 59 stakeholders supporting this client group across the city were consulted on 
the effectiveness of the processes and services provided by CRMC to support migrants in 
the city. The response was very positive with 71% of respondents indicating these 
services and processes were effective or very effective, compared with only 4% indicating 
they were not effective or not effective at all. These results are set out in Table 8 below.  

Table 8: How effective do you think the processes and services provided by Coventry 
Refugee and Migrant Centre (CRMC) are in supporting migrants?

Number of 
respondents

% of 
respondents 

Very effective 11 22%
Effective 24 49%
No fixed views 12 24%
Not effective 2 4%
Not  at all 0 0%
All respondents 49 100%

3.2.2. In general, stakeholders felt that CRMC provide a positive service but are an 
overstretched service yet they do their best to meet demand. Areas of good practice 
highlighted were their interpretation service, mental health support, immigration advice 
and housing support. The Centre was also described as a “one-stop-shop” for migrants 
who come to the city. It was said that CRMC are a very important central point for asylum 
seekers and migrants to come to and access information about other services. Also, 
“despite resource constraints they always do their very best to provide quality services.” It 
was stated “that CRMC could work more with other organisations in the city that 
specialise with migrant groups to help support the communities, avoid duplication and 
share resource.” They also need “resources to run the holistic service required and this 
could also be evaluated for its impact.” It was also said that “CRMC are clearly over 
stretched in their capacity to deliver all of the above services effectively" and that “CRMC 
are the best placed organisation to provide initial settlement legal support, Information 
and housing advice and should signpost to other organisations for other services”

3.3. Service User Feedback:

3.3.1. A series of focus groups were conducted as a part of this review in order to explore the 
effectiveness of the Centre and the services it offers. Focus group participants were 
service users of the CRMC and were recruited through existing groups established at the 
Centre. Feedback was overwhelmingly positive. Over 60 people participated in these 
focus groups and reported having a very good experience with issues resolved by CRMC 
and few that were still ongoing.

Page 65



8

3.4. Staff Feedback:

3.4.1. As a part of this review, staff were consulted to gather feedback from within the 
organisation. The centre employs 36 paid members of staff. 22 are employed full time and 
14 are part-time with 96 volunteers who between them speak 60 different languages. 
Some of the strengths included the person-centred approach offering tailored methods of 
reaching out to clients. The staff valued the flexible approach the Centre provides. They 
also identified its ability to respond in emergency situations such as their out of hours 
service that other agencies are not always able to offer. 

3.5. Areas of improvement:

3.5.1. Through the consultations with the above groups, respondents were asked to identify 
specific ways CRMC services could be developed further or improved. A summary of the 
key points are mentioned below:

 Partnership Working: Improvements to communication / networking / coordination / 
access. Stronger partnership working would be advantageous between statutory and 
voluntary organisations. With improved communication and co-ordination, services can 
better support clients in their areas of specialisms and avoid duplication.  Agencies that 
referred in to CRMC were mainly Coventry Citizens Advice, Coventry Law Centre, 
G4S, Job Centre and Social Services. However there are a significant number of ‘other’ 
organisations that have referred into the service but have not been specified. 

 Additional funding/resources: This included the need for more staff, further resource 
for therapy and counselling, legal advice services, ESOL and English conversation 
classes tailored to ability levels, additional housing advice/support including crisis 
support for the homeless.

 Employment Support: creating better opportunities for migrants including more 
structured volunteering programmes and opportunities for skills training and 
integration.

 Support for the destitute: this includes asylum seekers and migrants with no recourse 
to public funds. More resource for the Destitution Fund at CRMC to support this client 
group was advocated.

 Investment in the CRMC ICT system: to allow for a more efficient service including 
the introduction of an online booking system as an attempt to manage appointments 
more efficiently and reduce waiting times for service users.

 Staff development and wellbeing: As CRMC has been said to be a service in high 
demand as well as working with difficult issues such as trauma, a need for 
psychological support and internal feedback mechanisms to capture staff feedback and 
client needs is needed.

3.6. Current Provision 

3.6.1. Coventry City Council currently provides £387,752 funding a year to CRMC to deliver the 
following services (through core budget) with extensive support from volunteers:

Service Description Funding
Advice Team Provides a drop in and appointment service to support 

refugees, asylum seekers and migrants with any 
presenting or emergency issues such as access to benefits 
and housing

£171,227

Safeguarding 
Unit

Provides casework support to those people who are the 
most vulnerable and require ongoing support.

£104,608

Page 66



9

Housing Unit Provides up to 39 units of supported accommodation 
including housing for people with no recourse to public 
funds. (Part contribution)

£53,338

Work and 
Wellbeing Unit

Provides a support service to help people into training, 
employment and voluntary work.

£58,579

**Please note that all data in this report has been provided by CRMC 

3.7. External Funding 

3.7.1. In addition, CRMC have also received funding from alternative grants/funding outside of 
Council funding and their social enterprise ventures. This includes: 

 a small amount for therapy services purchased by GPs (costs for therapists and 
interpreters) is approx £65,000 that only covers the service delivery. The on-costs for 
this service are covered by other means including City Councils funding. 

 £41,330 for Employment worker through the 2 year Accelerate Project (employability 
programme for the most disadvantaged funded through Big Lottery Funding and 
European Social Funding ending December 2018).

 1 year of funding of £27,329 for multiple employment projects with West Midlands 
Police and Fire Service.

 £125,000 of funding to support Syrian and other resettled refugees related work.
 £16,000 funding to support with relocation. 
 £50,000 over 2 years for contribution towards Communications Officer salary. 
 £6,000 over a year’s contribution to team leader roles within the organisation.
 £14,934 income from their social enterprise ventures (interpreting service and cleaning 

enterprise) in 2017/18.

3.7.2. Previously CRMC have been heavily reliant on Council Funding. However, the Centre has 
been working in partnership with the wider organisations and been recently successful in 
securing external funding through the MHCLG (Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government) and European Union for the “Building Bridges” and “MiFriendly Cities” 
projects. This will support capacity building to deliver services effectively and efficiently 
and add value to the funding that the organisation already receives. 

Description of activities Total Grant 
(£)

Approx Grant (£) 
for 18/19 Source of funding

MiFriendly Cities Project funded through 
the Urban Innovation Action Funding (EU) 455,182 115,100

Urban Innovation 
Funding-For 3 years from 
1st March 2018

Controlling Migration Fund - Building 
Bridges Project: Information, Advice and 
Guidance Officer; Letting Agency; 
Administrator

356,984 175,854 For 2 years from 1st July 
2018

Two employment projects with the police 
and fire service 41,290 41,290

First one due to end July 
2018.  Second from July 
2018 for 1 year (yet to be 
confirmed)

    

Mens Group Coordinator & Service costs 16,000 16,000 1 year funded by several 
Charitable Trusts

    
Page 67



10

Crisis Worker salary 12,353 12,353 1 year funded by 
charitable trust

   

Team Leader salaries 16,000 16,000 1 year funded by 
charitable trust

   
Eritrean Rights Project 8,500 8,500 Funded by the DWP
    

Events Co-Ordinator salary 6,419 6,419 1 year funded by a 
charitable trust

    

Part funding for a HR Administrator salary 4,489 4,489 1 year funded by 
charitable trust

    
Clinical supervision (for staff and 
volunteers) 3,000 3,000 Funded by a charitable 

trust

TOTAL £908,263 £374,788
 

3.8. Value for Money:

3.8.1. During 2014/15 CRMC worked to decrease their unit costs and achieve greater value for 
money. A 22% funding reduction was achieved when the grant was renewed in April 2015 
leading to loss of management and other posts without any reduction in frontline delivery 
of services. As part of the service review the organisation achieved cost efficiencies to 
enable them to increase the number of customers supported for the same amount of 
funding. In 2016/17 the unit costs (** Note: The unit cost has been calculated by averaging the 
unit cost per hour per service-UPPS ( UPPS=Funding allocated to the service/total number of 
hours delivered) further reduced and were lower than the predicted unit cost. 2017/18 has 
seen a slight increase in unit costs however spending has stayed within budget.

 

Year Annual Funding Number of Customers Supported

2014/15 £498,155 ( This figure 
was reported as £528,925 due to 
admin error in previous report)

1,877 

2015/16 £387,752 2,458

2016/17 £387,752 2,776

2017/18 £387,752 2,382

Page 68



11

 Note: The unit cost has been calculated by averaging the unit cost per hour per service-UPPS ( UPPS=Funding 
allocated to the service/total number of hours delivered)

3.9. Review Conclusions/Findings:

 The Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre is a vital specialist service that provides 
much needed support to Asylum Seekers, Refugees and Migrants that come to 
Coventry. 

 The demand for the Centre (in terms of numbers of appointments) has risen over the 
past 3 years and is likely to stay high due to migration trends and changes to 
government legislation.

 Cases are becoming more time intensive and are very complex. Destitution is an issue 
that the centre has seen more of and would like to see more resource put in to meet 
need.

 In general, feedback from stakeholders and service users has been positive with areas 
of good practice highlighted as their interpretation service, specialist mental health 
support, immigration advice and housing support. However, due to constraints in 
resources it has been recommended that CRMC specialise in areas of their greatest 
strengths.

 It has also been recommended that CRMC work more closely in partnership with other 
organisations that support migrants in the city to share resource, avoid duplication and 
help to meet demand more effectively and efficiently.

 Encourage partnership working with training and staff development through minor 
changes to the structures, e.g.  work with the Council’s ICT team to support an upgrade 
in their ICT system.

 It is also recommended that CRMC continue to source further funding through active 
fundraising to support self-reliance and sustainability of the Centre and the vital 
services that they provide. 

 In proposing that grant levels remain at current levels it is presumed that regular 
reviews of services will be jointly undertaken to ensure alignment with Council priorities 
and the wider needs of refugees and migrants’ resident in Coventry. 

Page 69



12

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1. The decision will be implemented from 1st September 2018 with a transition period of 3 
months and a timeline of up to 12 months given to the organisation for the changes to be 
implemented and the delivery of the new grant to be started from 1st Dec 2018.

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Resources

5.1. Financial implications

The grant will continue to be funded from within existing Coventry City Council People 
Directorate budgets. The grant was reduced by 22% in 2015/16 however CRMC receives 
other funding from a variety of different sources. Throughout the term of the grant aid 
agreement reviews will take place to ensure that required outcomes are being delivered 
and that value for money is achieved. 

The recommendation includes the inclusion of annual break clauses in the Grant Aid 
Agreement to allow for grant levels to be adjusted in accordance with Council budget 
setting.

5.2. Legal implications

The Council will make the grant payments in accordance with section 1 of the Localism Act 
2011.  A formal grant aid agreement will be entered into by the Council and CRMC.A formal 
grant aid agreement will be entered into by the Council and CRMC.

6. Other implications

6.1. How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan?

This service supports the delivery of the vision and values set out within the Council Plan 
by protecting and supporting the most vulnerable people, helping to reduce the impact of 
poverty, preventing homelessness and keeping children and adults safe from harm. The 
services delivered through this funding will help refugee and migrant communities to get 
into jobs, establish new businesses in the city and hence the Council deliver its priority of 
aiming to improve the quality of life for Coventry people. The funding will also help support 
our citizens to be more active and independent and hence help the Council use its limited 
resources in a more targeted way.

6.2. How is risk being managed?

The recommendations contained in this report will be managed through usual City Council 
risk management processes.  Service monitoring data will be used to review the service on 
an annual basis with the Centre to ascertain and shape the future services required for 
asylum seekers, refugees and migrants within the City. In addition to this the Refugee and 
Migrant Centre will be required to have their own risk management and mitigation plan in 
place to minimise and manage the impact of any risks the centre may face. 

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

None

Page 70



13

6.4. Equalities / EIA 

Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre supports a number of people from different 
communities, religions and ethnic backgrounds, many of whom are escaping persecution 
from their countries of origin or are destitute. The service therefore has a positive impact 
for people with protected characteristics. The centre serves a very specific and vulnerable 
group of people who faced inequalities and discrimination in their home countries. These 
mainly include people from ethnic minority backgrounds who are now a part of this city’s 
fabric and need the extra support to be able to better integrate into the community.

6.5. Implications for (or impact on) the environment

None

6.6. Implications for partner organisations?

None 

Page 71



14

Report author

Name and job title: 
Peter Barnett
Head of Libraries, Advice, Health and Information

Directorate: 
People

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 02476831579
Email: peter.barnett@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate 
or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date 
response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Pooja Ahluwalia Project officer People 25/05/2018 27/07/2018
Sunairah Miraj Programme Manager People 25/05/2018 27/07/2018
Nadia Inglis Consultant in Public 

Health
People 25/05/2018 03/06/2018

Lara Knight Governance Services 
Co-ordinator

Place 27/07/2018 27/07/2018

Kirston Nelson Director of Education People 13/06/2018 13/06/2018
Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(Officers and Members)
Sarah Kinsell Finance Officer Place 13/06/2018 20/06/2018
Janice White Legal Services Place 13/06/2018 20/06/2018
Liz Gaulton Director of Public 

Health and Wellbeing
People 14/06/2018 01/06/2018

Councillor E Ruane Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Communities

- 09/08/2018 09/08/2018

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings 

Page 72

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


15

Appendix 1

Advice Team - Case study 1: Mr AA

AA’s application for Section 4 Asylum Support has required repeated work due to the process of 
providing information to the Section 4 Team via Migrant Help and vice versa; this is causing 
delays in getting the applications to the Home Office and we are constantly helping clients to 
chase up their application. This means that a lot of time is being used in trying to contact Migrant 
Help via telephone or sending emails regularly on a repeat basis, requiring further destitution 
service provision while clients are still waiting for their support.

The following recent appointments show the pattern typical of applications for Section 4 support.

26/02/18: We started to fill in the Asylum Support application form (ASF1) for AA but he needed 
to return with further details. [2 hours]

02/03/18: We completed the ASF1 and sent it with supporting letters proving destitution. [1 hour]

22/03/18: We chased up the ASF1 by emailing Migrant Help, as we could not get through by 
telephone after waiting on hold for 45 minutes.  [1 hour]

27/03/18: We emailed Migrant Help again to chase up the ASF1, as we had received no 
response to our previous enquiry. [45 minutes]

05/04/18: We called Migrant Help, as we had had no response to our previous emails and AA 
was very frustrated at not having heard anything regarding his Asylum Support. We were told 
that Migrant Help had not sent AA’s application to the Home Office until 17/03/18, even though it 
had been submitted on 02/03/18.

At present any application for either Section 95 or Section 4 support will take at least four weeks 
to process. In the meantime the destitute client will often come back to ask us to try speed things 
up, thus requiring more casework hours.

April 2018

Page 73



16

Advice Team - Case study 2: The Z family

The Z family’s s case is complex but not particularly unusual. Mr and Mrs Z came to the UK on a 
Tier 1 work visa in 2008 and both worked for as long as they were allowed to take employment. 
Their four children were born in the UK. They applied for asylum due to fear of their daughters 
being subjected to FGM if they returned to their home country.

After delays with their application – some caused by confusion at the Home Office due to Mrs Z 
being the main applicant rather than her husband – the family had substantial rent and Council 
Tax debts and their landlord was desperate to evict them.

13/10/17: We completed an ASF1 and submitted it by email to Migrant Help. [2 hours]

31/10/17: The family had run out of money completely but needed to submit photocopies of bank 
statements. We made the copies and issued a Food Bank voucher. [15 minutes]

06/11/17: The family were mistakenly told they did not have to pay their Council Tax arrears. We 
contacted the City Council and, when it emerged that they did have to pay after all, we sent an 
email to Coventry Law Centre debt team. We also emailed Migrant Help to check that the 
documentation they had requested had arrived. [1 hour]

13/11/17: The family was now threatened with eviction. We explained their Section 21 rights and 
printed out a summary for Mr Z to take home. We gave Mr Z a Food Bank voucher and cash for 
fresh vegetables. Mr Z offered to volunteer for us, so we put him in touch with our volunteer 
coordinator. [30 minutes]

16/11/17: We helped Mr Z with a school Boot Fund application. [20 minutes]

17/11/17: The family had now been awarded Section 95 support but were not yet receiving 
payments. We gave them some food from our cupboards and referred them to the Red Cross. 
[15 minutes]

21/11/17: We helped Mr Z Client to complete and submit a declaration form for their Section 95 
support. [20 minutes]

24/11/17: The family were due to be taken to their Section 95 accommodation today, but the G4S 
driver arrived early. They were not ready and now the Home office is treating them as having 
failed to travel. We rang the Asylum Support Accommodation Monitoring Team, then G4S. We 
sent the necessary letter to help them to get an early rebooking. [1 hour]

28/11/17: We gave Mr Z cash for milk and also gave him food from the cupboards. [10 minutes]

30/11/17: The family were not taken to their new accommodation as expected today. We rang 
Migrant Help and were told they would get back to Mr and Mrs Z. [30 minutes]

04/12/17: We rang Asylum Support and Migrant Help to try to speed things up as Mrs Z was due 
to have the baby soon. We gave them a Food Bank voucher and cash for bus fares and nappies. 
[45 minutes]

Page 74



17

12/12/17: We emailed Migrant Help again to try to speed things up. [30 minutes]

14/12/17: We rang the family’s lettings agent to try to stall the eviction process. [10 minutes]

21/12/17: We received an e-mail to say the family had been granted accommodation in Coventry 
from 28th of December. We printed it out for Mr Z and also completed a health costs form (HC1). 
[30 minutes]

29/12/17: The move (and therefore also the family’s Asylum Support) was postponed at the last 
minute. We gave them food and cash. [20 minutes]

08/01/18: We helped Mr Z apply for a maternity grant. [30 minutes]

11/01/18: The family were given a new move date of 12th January, so we rang Mr Z to check 
whether they had heard anything from UKVI or G4S. They hadn't, so we rang the Asylum 
Support Accommodation Monitoring Team (ASAMT) to make sure the move was going ahead, as 
Mrs Z was due to have a caesarean section on 19th January. We were told that the dispersal 
date had been changed to 26th January. We rang the family, who were extremely upset. We 
rang the family’s lettings agent again to try to stall the eviction process. [45 minutes]

17/01/18: The new baby had been born the previous night. We gave Mr Z money for a taxi from 
the hospital. [15 minutes]

22/01/18: We rang the Home Office directly to check that the family was still due to be moved the 
following day, then rang Mr Z to tell him they were still moving. [20 minutes]

25/01/18: We wrote a letter to the Midland Enforcement Unit to inform them of the birth of the 
new baby. [20 minutes]

16/03/18: Mr and Mrs Z had their asylum interview yesterday. They have been asked to send in 
the new baby’s original birth certificate, as the one we had sent had not arrived. We posted the 
birth certificate with a covering note to the NSA Hub in Hounslow. [45 minutes]

20/03/18: We scanned evidence of the family’s elder daughter's life in the UK and sent it to the 
Home Office. 20 minutes]

April 2018

Page 75



18

Safeguarding Unit – Case Study 1: Mr BB

BB  is a young man with severe mental health problems, a tendency to self-harm and self-
medication with drug use who first came to us on the 16th August 2016.  When his current 
caseworker first met the client his problems seemed to be health related and close liaison with 
his GP seemed to help, but it was decided that the mental health crisis team would give more 
support and closely monitor the medication he has to collect daily due to his suicidal tendencies, 
however due to his use of class A drugs this service has been denied.

The client does however like swimming and we have made an Active Health referral as this 
would give the client something positive to do and could help with his mental health.

The situation has changed recently as the client’s claim for refugee status has been declined and 
despite his solicitor clarifying that advice obtained by Counsel that his case has very good merits 
to challenge he could still find himself in a destitute situation, so for now we must liaise closely 
with client’s solicitor and other agencies to prevent this situation from happening as there is a real 
risk of suicide. 

Client visits almost daily and at the present time this is necessary for the support that he needs.

Safeguarding Unit – Case Study 2: Ms CC

CC was initially referred to the Safeguarding Unit on the 27th January 2017.  This client was 
homeless and destitute and living in Coventry Peace House who is a victim of modern slavery 
and has been reluctant to name her perpetrators thus losing her first claim for asylum.  Now that 
she has submitted fresh evidence to a new solicitor (that my predecessor worked hard to find for 
her), we are hopeful of success.

Meanwhile after referrals to the Red Cross, our client now has a home and support that will be 
reviewed every six months.

The caseworker’s role is to continue to support the client with her paperwork, emotional support 
and liaise with her medical professionals.  They have also accompanied the client to numerous 
hospital appointments.  CRMC has helped the client to engage socially in that she is now more 
comfortable around male colleagues and has formed a friendship with another client she met 
whilst in the reception waiting area.  The client has also applied to volunteer as an interpreter.

April 2018

Page 76



19

Appendix 2

CRMC Recommendations following the 2018 Review:

Context and findings of the review:

With the current political and economic climate, there will continue to be challenges for those 
working in the Migration Sector. With further cuts taking place to Council resource, finding ways 
to work smarter and encourage independence is a key focus in current local leadership. The 
findings from the review show that:

 The demand for the Centre (in terms of numbers of appointments) has risen by 12% from 
15/16 over the past 3 years and is likely to stay high due to migration trends and changes 
to government legislation.
 

 Cases are becoming more time intensive and are very complex. Destitution is an issue 
that the centre has seen an increase of nearly 4 fold from 15/16 figures and would like to 
see more resource put in to meet need. 
 

 Feedback from stakeholders have identified areas of good practice highlighted as the 
interpretation service, specialist mental health support, immigration advice and housing 
support. Additionally, stakeholders also pointed to a focus on CRMC working more 
closely in partnership with other organisations that support migrants in the city to share 
resource, avoid duplication and help to meet demand more effectively and efficiently. 

 
 Staff raised concerns with training and development for example the slow/unreliable ICT 

systems, training and support for staff wellbeing as well as training sessions to get up to 
date information on changes to benefits, immigration/EU laws, employment and refugees, 
housing and social services.
  

 The review has highlighted that CRMC are very reliant on the grant provided through the 
Council. With the uncertainty the economic and political climate brings with it at the 
moment sustainability is at risk.

 
Within this context the following recommendations have been made:
 

1. Utilise the findings from the Coventry Migrant Needs Assessment and other research 
identified, to prioritise needs/issues that are currently most prevalent in migrant groups 
and that affect the most disadvantaged and tailor core services to meet these needs and 
issues. 
 

2. Define the key objectives of each service area in line with the needs identified through the 
data provided by the centre and the Migrant Needs Assessment.

 
3. Discuss and agree with City council the key data, outputs and targets for each service 

area as well as reporting of the Key Performance Indicators.
 

4. Work to have a presence in local communities doing outreach activities and working with 
organisations that work in these communities to build good relationships and expand 
reach in the city.
 

5. Review and evaluate fundraising plan in order to source further funding through actively 
seeking opportunities to support self-reliance and sustainability.

 

Page 77



20

6. Work with the Council’s ICT team to upgrade ICT system and champion a move to the 
digital ways of working including the upskilling of staff.
 

7. Due to constraints in resources it has been recommended that CRMC specialise in areas 
of their greatest strengths in line with demand. Formulate a streamlined organisational 
model and pull resources into areas of best practice/need. E.g 7hrs of work from the 
Safeguarding Unit be used to add hours on to immigration advice support. (Areas 
identified as best practice: interpretation services, mental health, immigration advice, 
housing support, destitution).
 

8. Dedicate the Settlement Caseworker (Safeguarding Unit) to prioritise cases of destitution 
and work closely with internal (eg. Advice team, Housing unit) and external teams (eg. 
Peace House, CCC, universities etc) to support the most vulnerable.

9. Have one full time member of staff that is responsible for internal and external partnership 
management and managing volunteers. This role should focus on: 

a. Establishing key partnerships with organisations that can add value to the services 
CRMC provide.

b. Monitor, manage and source training/development opportunities for staff. 
c. Be responsible for maintaining an active database on key services being provided 

in the city for staff to signpost to. This should add value and avoid duplication of 
services in the city. 

d. Work with partners to formulate a structured volunteer recognition scheme to 
attract skilled volunteers.
  

10. Review and evaluate services annually to analyse impact/trends in the city, discuss 
findings with City Council to agree, adapt the service to the changing needs of the client 
groups and take action in response to findings.

 
 

Page 78



 Public report
Cabinet Report

Cabinet 28th August 2018

Name of Cabinet Member: 

Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership (Leader of the Council) - Councillor G Duggins

Director Approving Submission of the report:

Chief Executive

Ward(s) affected:
All

Title:
Second Devolution Deal for the West Midlands

Is this a key decision?

Yes - Approval is being sought for the introduction of the Second Devolution Deal for the 
West Midlands

Executive Summary:

To provide the Cabinet with an update on discussions with Government on a Second 
Devolution Deal for the West Midlands and to consider the implications for Coventry and 
the region. Then seek approval from the Cabinet for its introduction.

Recommendations:

Cabinet is recommended to:-

1) Consider the benefits of the second Devolution Deal and to agree to the Second 
Devolution Deal for the West Midlands.

2) Delegate authority to the Leader of the Council to advise the WMCA Board that it is 
the City Council’s expectation that proper consultation on the proposed 
arrangements in respect of the new Governance model for the PCC and Mayoral 
roles will take place to inform any final decision of the WMCA Board and Constituent 
Councils; and that this should include public consultations on the principles of the 
proposed governance model and the detailed operational proposal for the 
governance model.

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1 - Devolution Deal
Appendix 2 - Action plan

Background papers:

None
   
Other useful documents

None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory 
Panel or other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 80



Report title: Second Devolution Deal for the West Midlands

1. Context (or Background)
 
1.1. To provide the Cabinet with an update on discussions with Government on a 

Second devolution deal for the West Midlands and to consider the implications 
for Coventry and the region.

1.2. Background

1.2.1. The West Midlands Combined Authority’s first Devolution Deal was formally 
agreed by the Combined Authority Shadow Board on 17th November 2015, 
setting up the Mayoral Combined Authority and bringing new powers and funding 
to the West Midlands.

1.2.2. Following the General Election in June 2017, the West Midlands Combined 
Authority initiated discussions with Government on a second devolution deal 
based on proposals brought forward by the Devolution Strategy Group.

1.2.3. Negotiations were conducted by the WMCA Executive with support of the Mayor 
and the Combined Authority Leaders as required, and regular consultation and 
updates for Combined Authority stakeholders throughout the process 
(Constituent and Non-constituent Leaders, Chief Executives, LEP Chairs and 
Executives and others). The principles of the second Devolution Deal were 
announced at the Autumn Budget by the Chancellor of the Exchequer on 22 
November 2017.

1.2.4. The second Devolution Deal was a balanced deal shaped around the priorities of 
the Combined Authority: driving economic performance, supporting inclusive 
growth, and bringing new financial support for the region.

1.2.5. The agreement recognises and reaffirms the roles of the constituent authorities, 
the non-constituent authorities and the LEPs in the Combined Authority, and 
commits the Government to support them all in delivering outcomes for citizens.

1.2.6. The Devolution Deal covered a number of areas where the Government 
committed to support the West Midlands as it develops its Local Industrial 
Strategy to drive regional economic growth:

1. Housing – with agreement to work on a Housing Deal
2. Skills
3. Transport
4. Digital
5. Air quality
6. Energy
7. Key sectors e.g. automotive, construction, culture

Page 81



1.2.7. The Devolution Deal also set out a number of initiatives on public service reform, 
ways in which the West Midlands could have more control of financing its 
activities, and agreed governance changes, including a commitment to integrate 
the West Midlands Fire and Rescue Service into the Combined Authority.

1.2.8. The Deal also sets out that the Government, the Combined Authority and the 
Office of the PCC will work together to incorporate the role and powers of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner into the mayoralty from 2020. Work is now 
beginning to plan for this detailed and complex task which will include the 
establishment of regular dialogue and joint working with the Office of the PCC in 
order to secure continuity in good practice and public protection. The Combined 
Authority Executive, the Mayor’s Office and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Office will bring a joint Report on the decisions to be taken and 
the proposed process for these governance changes to the Combined Authority 
Board, informed by guidance from the Home Office and the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government. The City Council would expect that 
consultation on the proposed arrangements to have taken place to inform any 
final decision of the WMCA Board this should include public consultations on the 
principles of the proposed governance model and the detailed operational 
proposal for the governance model.

1.2.9. Importantly, the second deal established a joint commitment between the 
Government and WMCA to work together on a number of priority areas in which 
further devolution is sought but policies are not yet fully developed.

1.2.10. The full text of the Devolution Deal is contained in Appendix 1 to the report.

1.3.  Developing a new approach to devolution

1.3.1. During negotiation of the second deal, some discussion has also taken place 
with   government about developing a new approach to devolution discussions. 
The intention of the WMCA is that this should be more of a continuous process, 
with initiatives and agreements announced at different times, moving away from 
the stop-start approach to agreeing deals. Importantly, this should be more of a 
collaboration between partners and less of a deal making process.

1.3.2. The intention is to agree an Action Plan for the next stages of this work between 
the WMCA and government, based on the wide ranging agenda set by the 
second devolution deal. This will include work on the Housing Deal and the Local 
Industrial Strategy as well as projects covering skills, employment, transport, 
public services and the Finance for Growth Commission. It provides an 
opportunity for the West Midlands to move into the vanguard of the devolution 
agenda, working in a closer partnership with government to deliver our shared 
West Midlands priorities for the decade ahead.

1.4. Implementation of the Second Devolution Deal

1.4.1. Unlike the First Devolution Deal, there are relatively few items that will require 
changes to the powers and Constitution of the WMCA and the formal legal 
process of drawing up Statutory Orders and presenting them to Parliament. 

Page 82



These items relate to finance and governance arrangements and will be subject 
to separate ratification processes by constituent authorities (for example the 
changing governance of the West Midlands Fire Service, which is already 
underway and the creation of the new power to levy a Supplementary Business 
Rate).

1.5. The Action Plan

1.5.1. The CA has agreed an action plan for the implementation of devolution. 
Appendix 2 sets out the overall approach to this work and the partnership we are 
seeking with government. It then summarises a wide ranging agenda, including 
work on the Housing Deal and the Local Industrial Strategy as well as projects 
covering skills, employment, transport, public services and the Funding for 
Growth Commission.

1.5.2. The Action Plan provides an opportunity for the West Midlands to move into the 
vanguard of the devolution agenda, working in a closer partnership with 
government to deliver our shared West Midlands priorities for the decade ahead.

1.5.3. WMCA are engaging with government officials on the basis of a detailed 
programme built on this Action Plan and are working jointly with government 
officials to agree the shared agenda for future work. Portfolio leads will be fully 
engaged in that process and the work ahead. This in turn will feed into the 
forthcoming WMCA Annual plan.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1. The proposed Devolution Deal builds on “Devo 1”. Alternative options were 
considered as part of the discussions with government, and options for 
implementation will be considered as part of the action plan.   

2.2. The proposals in the devo deal when implemented will enable the Combined   
Authority to continue to deliver devolution aspirations of the region. 

3. Result of consultation undertaken

3.1. A formal consultation was undertaken when the original scheme for the creation 
of the West Midlands Combined Authority was being considered. The individual 
strands of this second devolution deal with require consultation and engagement 
of varying degrees in order to implement them.

4. Timetable of implementing this decision 

4.1. The work resulting from Devolution Deal 2 is ongoing and with different elements 
of the deal progressing with different timescales.

Page 83



5. Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Resources

5.1. Financial implications
 
5.1.1. The Second Devolution Deal brought new funding for the region (total of approx. 

£280M), which has been incorporated into the Combined Authority’s proposed 
Budget and into the Investment Programme.

5.1.2. New financing powers were agreed in the Devolution Deal (e.g. borrowing, 
business rate supplement) and these will be developed by the CA Executive, 
with the approval of the Combined Authority Board and constituent authorities.

5.1.3. Government has also committed to work together with the Combined Authority 
on the Funding for Growth Programme to develop new sources of funding and 
financing to support the region’s activities.

5.2. Legal implications
 
5.2.1. There are some specific areas in the Deal where secondary legislation will be 

required which will need the consent of the Constituent Authorities. These will be 
brought forward on an individual basis in consultation with the relevant 
Government Departments. There may also be a need for public consultation in 
respect of some of these Orders and further Parliamentary Approval.

6. Other implications

6.1. How will this contribute to achievements of the Council’s plan?

The product of any West Midlands devolution deal will be fundamentally 
important to the delivery of the City Council’s priorities 

Improved economic growth works alongside public sector reform and improved 
outcomes in the wellbeing of the city’s population. 

In order to achieve its ambitions for economic growth and improved wellbeing for 
its population, it needs a high performing regional platform of a scale that can 
attract the significant inward investment needed. 

6.2. How is risk being managed?

The Combined Authority as a statutory organisation and its members would be 
required to manage the risks associated with its activities.

6.3. What is the impact on the organisation?

6.4. Equalities implications
 

There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.
 

Page 84



6.5. Implications for (or impact on) the environment

There are no environmental implications currently. 
 
6.6. Implications for partner organisations 

The proposals require partnership working and agreement with the other local 
authorities

Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
WMCA

Julie Newman
Legal Services Manager

Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 02476 831606 
Email: Julie.newman@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate 
or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date 
response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance 

Services Officer
Place 21.5.18 20.6.18

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(Officers and Members)
Barry Hastie Director of Finance 

and Corporate 
Resources

Place 21.5.18 22.6.18

Julie Newman Legal Services 
Manager

Place 15.5.18 28.6.18

Martin Reeves Chief Executive - 21.5.18 22.6.18
Councillor G Duggins Cabinet Member for 

Policy and 
Leadership (Leader 
of the Council)

- 22.6.18 27.6.18

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 85

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 87

cvmsa240
Typewriter
Appendix 1



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107

cvmsa240_1
Typewriter
Appendix 2



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



 Public report
Cabinet 

Report to Cabinet                                                                                                  28 th August 2018

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities - Councillor A Khan

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
All

Title:
Public Space Protection Order (Coventry Dog Control)

Is this a key decision?
No – Although the proposals within the report affect the whole city, the impact is not expected to 

be significant.

Executive Summary:

The Council consulted on the renewal of the Public Space Protection Order (Coventry Dog 
Control), with one slight amendment in Allesley Park, which received support from the public, 
park friends groups and dog related organisations and businesses. 

The Order is required to assist with the enforcement of dog fouling offences, but also to specify: 
where dogs should be kept on leads, where dogs are prohibited, the maximum number of dogs 
that can be walked by one person and enabling officers to request that a dog be put on a lead if 
problems are ensuing. 

180 people responded to the consultation and the desire to renew the Order received 
overwhelming support. This report requests the approval of Cabinet to renew the Order for a 
further three years.

Recommendation:

Cabinet is recommended to agree to the renewal of the Public Spaces Protection Order 
(Coventry Dog Control), with the inclusion of one additional ‘dogs on lead’ area in Allesley Park 
(Fairy Village) for a further three years. 

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1: The proposed Public Space Protection Order (Coventry Dog Control)
Appendix 2: Maps of the relevant parks
Appendix 3: Results of the consultation

Page 119

Agenda Item 8



Background Papers

None

Other useful documents:

None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No 

Page 120



Report title: 
Public Space Protection Order (Coventry Dog Control)
 
1 Context (or background)

1.1 Cabinet originally approved the Public Space Protection Order (Coventry Dog Control) 
‘the Order’, in 2015 for a three year period. Cabinet created a Cabinet Consultative 
Committee (the CCC) to monitor the efficacy and effectiveness of the Order and make 
such recommendations as are deemed necessary. The CCC was made up of 
representatives from a number of Park Friends Groups, the Dogs in Coventry Group, dog 
training organisations, a dog behavioural expert, the Sunday Football League, the visually 
impaired and two Elected Members of the Council. 

1.2 The City Council worked closely with the CCC, prior to and after the implementation of the 
Order. In response to recommendations from the CCC, the Order was slightly amended 
and this was approved by Cabinet on 4th October 2016.

1.3 The Council have been pleased by the high levels of compliance particularly in the City’s 
parks. This has been achieved despite reduced enforcement resources and a great deal 
of the success is owed to those responsible dog owners who routinely challenge adverse 
behaviour whilst walking their own dogs.

2 Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 Option 1 - The Council could refuse to renew the Order. Not recommended.

2.2 Option 2 - Cabinet could renew the Order for a further three years. It is not proposed to 
change the wording of the Order. The Order was designed to be flexible and it gives the 
council powers to designate new children’s play areas as ‘dog exclusion areas’ and also 
the power to remove restrictions when the play areas are removed, or re-sited, which 
happens on occasions. The proposed Order can be seen in Appendix 1. Maps are 
available in Appendix 2, which show the extent of the Order in a number of the City’s 
parks, but these do not form part of the Order.  

2.3 Whilst it is not proposed to change the wording on the Order, it is proposed to increase 
the area covered by the ‘dogs on leads’ Order on a small area of land within Allesley 
Park. This will incorporate ‘Fairy Garden’ which is adjacent to Allesley Hall. This is an 
exploration area designed to be used by small children. This can be seen in Appendix 2 of 
the report.

2.4 The public and key stakeholders were consulted and 180 people responded. They were 
overwhelmingly in support of renewing the Order. Specific details can be seen in section 3 
of the report.

2.5 This option is recommended to Cabinet.

Page 121



2.6 Recommendation - Cabinet is recommended to agree to the renewal of the Public Spaces 
Protection Order (Coventry Dog Control), with the inclusion of one additional ‘dogs on 
lead’ area in Allesley Park (Fairy Village) for a further three years.    

3 Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 As part of the proposal to renew the Order, Officers have consulted key stakeholders and 
members of the public. The consultation was started on 1st June 2018 and was open for 
30 days. 180 people completed the consultation and the results can be seen in Appendix 
3 of the report. 

3.2 In summary, people, businesses and organisations who completed the consultation were 
overwhelmingly in support of the Order.

 Dog fouling of land: Do you agree that Coventry City Council officers should 
continue to deal with dog fouling where the owner fails to clear up after their dog?
97.77% supported the Order

 Dogs on leads: Do you believe that Coventry City Council should continue with a 
Dogs on Leads Order for specific areas of the city?
88.76% supported the Order

 Dogs on lead ‘Fairy Village: Do you support the inclusion of ‘Fairy Village’ at Allesley 
Park as a dogs on leads area?
91.67% supported the amendment

 Dogs on leads by direction: Do you agree that authorised Council officers should 
continue to be granted powers to insist that an owner puts their dog on a lead?
96.99% supported the Order

 Dog exclusion zones: Do you agree that authorised Council officers should 
continue to be able to restrict owners from taking their dogs into certain places which 
are clearly signed?
93.94% supported the Order

 Dogs (specified maximum): Do you agree that the Council should continue to be 
granted powers to introduce a ‘Dogs (Specified Maximum) on Land Order’?
94.51% supported the Order

4 Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 If the Cabinet approves the recommendation, the Order will come into effect immediately. 

5 Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Resources

5.1 Financial Implications 

Any resources required to implement and enforce the Order will be financed from existing 
budgets.

Page 122



5.2 Legal Implications 

The provisions covering the creation of a Public Space Protection Order (the Order) are 
contained in the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, sections 59-75. 
PSPOs can only apply to public places. The Order must be published on the Council’s 
website and notices erected at the relevant sites to draw attention to the existence of the 
Order.

6 Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's Plan?

There are clear research findings that show that the local environmental quality in a 
person's living environment has a significant impact on their health and well-being. 
Residents in areas which have a low environmental quality often have an increased "fear 
of crime". This particular tool will contribute to the Council's key objectives to ‘create an 
attractive, cleaner and greener city’ and ‘make communities safer together with the police, 
to reduce crime and anti-social behavior’. 

6.2 How is risk being managed?

None

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

None 

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

An equalities impact assessment was conducted when the first Order was created. This 
was recently reviewed and no adverse impacts were noted. The Order contains a range 
of exemptions for those persons who rely on ‘assistance’ dogs and the exemptions have 
proved successful and sufficient.

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

See paragraph 6.1 of the report.

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None 

Page 123



Report author(s):

Name and job title:
Craig Hickin
Head of Environmental Services

Directorate:
Place 

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 024 76 83 2585
E-mail: craig.hickin@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Phil Hibberd Pest Control and Animal 

Welfare Manager
Place 03/07/18 03/07/18

Graham Hood Head of Street Scene and 
Green Spaces

Place 03/07/18 06/07/18

Michelle Salmon Governance Services 
Officer

Place 03/07/18 04/07/18

Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(Officers and Members)
Cath Crosby Lead Accountant, Finance Place 03/07/18 04/07/18
Gillian Carter Solicitor, Team Leader 

(Regulatory) Legal 
Services

Place 03/07/18 06/07/18

Karen Mihajiovic Senior Human Resources 
Advisor

People 03/07/18 03/07/18

Andrew Walster Director Street Scene and 
Regulatory Services

Place 03/07/18 16/07/18

Martin Yardley Deputy Chief Executive Place 16/07/18 18/07/18
Councillor A Khan Cabinet Member for 

Policing and Equalities
- 18/07/18 18/07/18

This report is published on the Council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 124

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


Anti-social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014 
s.59-75 Public Space Protection Order (Coventry Dog Control) 

 
The Council of the City of Coventry ("the Council") hereby makes the following Public 
Space Protection Order (Coventry Dog Control) under s.59-75 Anti-social Behaviour, 
Crime & Policing Act 2014: 
 
The Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) covers five areas of dog control: 
 

A. Dog fouling of land 
B. Dogs on leads 
C. Dogs on leads by direction 
D. Dogs exclusion 
E. Dogs (specified maximum) 

 
A. Dog fouling of land 

 
1. This relates to the offence of fouling of land by dogs. The public health 

implications of dog foul are well documented. 
 

2. If a dog defecates at any time on land to which this order applies, and the 
person who is in charge of the dog at that time fails to remove the faeces from 
the land forthwith, that person shall be guilty of an offence unless; 

a. he has a reasonable excuse for failing to do so; or 
b. the owner, occupier, or other person or authority having control of the 

land has consented (generally or specifically) to his failing to do so; 
 

3. This Order applies to land described in the Schedule A below, being land in 
the area of the Council.   

 
4. For the purpose of this article: 

a. placing the faeces in a receptacle on the land which is provided for this 
purpose, or for the disposal of waste, shall be a sufficient removal from 
the land; 

b. being unaware of the defecation (whether by reason of not being in the 
vicinity or otherwise), or not having a device for or other suitable means 
of removing the faeces, shall not be a reasonable excuse for failing to 
remove the faeces; 

   
Schedule A: Dog fouling of land 
 
Land Designated by Description 
 

1. Any land, which is open to the air, and to which the public are entitled or 
permitted to have access (with or without payment).  

2. Any land which is covered is to be treated as land which is "open to the air" if it 
is open on at least one side. 

Page 125



B. Dogs on leads 
 

1. Dogs whilst not on a lead and poorly supervised, or startled, have a greater 
potential to cause road traffic accidents, or to cause injury to pedestrians and 
other dogs. The restrictions in this Order are designed to facilitate a sharing of 
our public spaces, whilst recognising that dogs do need to be exercised off 
lead. 

 
2. A person in charge of a dog shall be guilty of an offence, if at any time, they 

fail to keep their dog on a lead not longer than 2.0 metres, unless: 
a. he has a reasonable excuse for failing to do so, or 
b. the owner, occupier, or other person, or other authority having control 

of the land has given consent (generally or specifically); 
 

3. This part of the Order applies to land described in the Schedule B below being 
land in the area of the Council. 

 
Schedule B: Dogs on leads 
 
Land Designated by Description 
 

1. A highway, carriageway, cycle lane, footway or footpath, maintainable at the 
public expense, or any grass verge managed by the local authority and which 
is adjacent to the carriageway or footway of a highway, including gutters and 
adjoining footpaths; 

2. clearly specified and signed areas in the city’s parks; 
3. all churchyards and graveyards, including green burial areas; 
4. all car park areas shopping centres and precincts that are: 

a. open to the air (which includes land that is covered but open to the air 
on at least one side) and 

b. areas to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access (with 
or without payment), irrespective of ownership 

5. all sports grounds, fields, parks, and pitches, which are maintained by the 
local authority and are not subject to ‘Dog Exclusion’, but only when in use for 
officiated sporting matches;  

 
C. Dogs on leads by direction 

 
1. In parts of the City where dogs are permitted off leads, a minority of 

irresponsible dog owners allow their dogs to cause damage to property, and 
cause problems for pedestrians and other dog owners. This part of the Order 
is designed to enable authorised Council Officers to direct that the owner put 
their dog on a lead.   

2. A person in charge of a dog will be guilty of an offence if at any time, on land 
to which this Part applies, they fail to comply with a direction given them by an 
authorised officer of the Council to put and keep the dog on a lead of not more 
than 2 metres in length, unless; 

a. he has a reasonable excuse for failing to do so; or 
b. the owner, occupier, or other person or authority having control of the 

land, has given consent (generally or specifically); 

Page 126



 
3. For the purposes of this request an authorised officer of the Council may only 

direct a person to put and keep a dog on a lead if such restraint is reasonably 
necessary to prevent either a nuisance, or behaviour by the dog likely to 
cause annoyance or disturbance to any other person, or the worrying of other 
animals on designated land to which this order applies. 

 
4. This Part of the Order applies to land described in Schedule C below being 

land in the area of the Council. 
 
Schedule C: Dogs on leads by direction 
 
Land Designated by Description 
 

1. Any land within the City boundaries, which is open to the air, and to which the 
public are entitled or permitted to have access (with or without payment).  

2. Any land which is covered is to be treated as land which is "open to the air" if it 
is open on at least one side. 

 
D. Dogs exclusion 

 
1. There are specific parts of the City from which dogs should be excluded for 

their safety and that of pedestrians, and for public health and aesthetic 
reasons. This part of the Order states the relatively few places from where 
dogs will be excluded. 

  
2. A person in charge of a dog will be guilty of an offence if at any time he takes 

the dog onto, or permits the dog to enter or remain on, any land specified in 
the Order, unless; 

a. he has a reasonable excuse for failing to do so; or 
b. the owner, occupier, or other person or authority having control of the 

land, has given consent (generally or specifically); 
 

3. This Part of the Order applies to the land described in Schedule D below being 
land in the area of the Council.  

 
Schedule D: Dogs exclusion 
 
Land Designated by Description 

 
1. children's play areas (which are clearly signed);  
2. multi-use games areas (which are clearly signed); 
3. sport and recreational facilities i.e. courts and pitches (which are enclosed and 

clearly signed); 
4. sensitive nature areas, or specific horticultural areas within parks (which are 

enclosed and clearly signed) 
 
 
  

Page 127



E. Dogs (specified maximum) 
 

1. There has been an increase in the number of persons and businesses walking 
numbers of dogs together, and some of these have exercised poor control 
over these dogs. This has caused problems for other dog owners and has also 
resulted in dog foul not being picked up. This part of the Order seeks to place 
limits on the number of dogs which may be walked together to enable greater 
control. 

  
2.     

 
A person shall be guilty of an offence if they take on to any land in respect of 
which this Order applies more than the maximum number of dogs specified in 
point 3 of this Order, unless; 

a. they have a reasonable excuse for failing to do so; or 
b. the owner, occupier, or other person or authority having control of the 

land, has given consent (generally or specifically); 
 

3. On land to which this Order applies, the maximum number of dogs which a 
person may take onto that land is six. 

4. This Part of the Order applies to land described in Schedule E below being 
land in the area of the Council.  

 
Schedule E: Dogs (specified maximum) 
 
Land Designated by Description within the City of Coventry 

 
1. Any land within the City boundaries, which is open to the air, and to which the 

public are entitled or permitted to have access (with or without payment).  
2. Any land which is covered is to be treated as land which is "open to the air" if it 

is open on at least one side. 
 
General Point 
 
For the purpose of parts A, B, C, and D of this Public Space Protection Order: 
 

1. Nothing in this Public Space Protection Order applies to a person who:  
a. is registered as a blind person in a register complied under section 29 

of the National Assistance Act 1948, or “severely sight impaired”, or 
“sight impaired” under the Care Act 2014; or  

b. has a disability which affects his mobility, manual dexterity, physical co-
ordination, or ability to lift, carry, or otherwise move everyday objects, in 
respect of a dog trained by a “prescribed charity” and upon which he 
relies for assistance; 

c. each of the following is a "prescribed charity" 
 

i) Dogs for the Disabled (registered charity number 700454) 
ii) Support Dogs (registered charity number 1088281) 
iii) Canine Partners for Independence (registered charity 

number 803680) 
iv) Hearing dogs for deaf people (registered charity number 

293358) 

Page 128



v) Any charity created subsequent to this Order, which 
covers the issues detailed in point 1.b. above. 

 
3. For the purpose of this article, a person who habitually has a dog in his 

possession shall be taken to be in charge of the dog at any time unless at that 
time some other person is in charge of the dog. 

 
Offences under this Public Space Protection Order 
 
A person who is guilty of an offence shall on summary conviction be liable to a fine 
not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale 
 
A Fixed Penalty Notice of £100.00 will be issued to offenders to be paid within 20 
days (reduced to £60.00 if paid within 14 days) which would discharge any liability to 
conviction for an offence under Section 67(1) of the Act. 
 
This order may be cited as 'The Public Space Protection Order (Coventry Dog 

 Control)’ and shall come into force on 28th    August 2018 and remain in force for a period
of three years. 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



97.77% 175

2.23% 4

Q1 Do you agree that Coventry City Council officers should continue to
deal with dog fouling where the owner fails to clear up after their dog?

Answered: 179 Skipped: 1

TOTAL 179

     

                  
          

  

            

                 
                     
                    

          

  

 

               

            

                  

                  
                    

            

  

      

Yes – I agree

No – I do not
agree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes – I agree

No – I do not agree

  

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Coventry Dog Control

Page 137



88.76% 150

11.24% 19

Q2 Do you believe that Coventry City Council should continue with a
Dogs on Leads Order for specific areas of the city?

Answered: 169 Skipped: 11

TOTAL 169

     

                  
    

  

                
           

  

                 
               

               
        

  

                

                     
                 
       

  

                 
              

  

  

          

                
                 

     

  

               
               

  

Yes 

No 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes 

No 

  

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Coventry Dog Control

Page 138



91.67% 154

8.33% 14

Q3 Do you support the inclusion of ‘Fairy Village’ at Allesley Park as a
dogs on leads area?

Answered: 168 Skipped: 12

TOTAL 168

     

              
        

  

                   
                  

               
               

                
    

  

              
                
                 

 

  

                 

                     

                    
                   

                 

  

                   
          

  

        

            

Yes

No

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes

No

  

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Coventry Dog Control

Page 139



96.99% 161

3.01% 5

Q4 Do you agree that authorised Council officers should continue to be
granted powers to insist that an owner puts their dog on a lead?

Answered: 166 Skipped: 14

TOTAL 166

     

         

             

                   

        

                

                   
                   

  

Yes – I agree

No – I do not
agree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes – I agree

No – I do not agree

  

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Coventry Dog Control

Page 140



93.94% 155

6.06% 10

Q5 Do you agree that authorised Council officers should continue to be
able to restrict owners from taking their dogs into certain places which are

clearly signed?
Answered: 165 Skipped: 15

TOTAL 165

     

                
                   

  

        

Yes – I agree

No – I do not
agree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes – I agree

No – I do not agree

  

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Coventry Dog Control

Page 141



94.51% 155

5.49% 9

Q6 Do you agree that the Council should continue to be granted powers
to introduce a ‘Dogs (Specified Maximum) on Land Order’?

Answered: 164 Skipped: 16

TOTAL 164

     

            

                    
      

  

Yes – I agree

No – I do not
agree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Yes – I agree

No – I do not agree

  

Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) Coventry Dog Control

Page 142



 Public report
Cabinet Report

Cabinet 28th August 2018
Council 4th September 2018

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for City Services – Councillor Innes

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
All

Title:
Capital Funding for Phase 2 Extension Plans for Lentons Lane Cemetery

Is this a key decision?
Yes –  Council and Cabinet are being recommended to approve the addition of this scheme to 

the Capital Programme at a cost of £2,153,000 to be funded from Corporate Capital 
Resources

Executive Summary:

This report seeks approval to commence with phase 2 of the extension programme for Lentons 
Lane Cemetery. 

This extension will ensure that Coventry City Council will be able to supply burial as an option for 
the residents of Coventry for approximately the next 35-40 years. 

In 2011/12 Bereavement Services began and completed phase 1 of the Lentons Lane Cemetery 
extension. This work included: a new cemetery entrance gate off Shilton Lane, and a building with 
toilet and mess room facilities. 

At the same time an assessment of medium term burial provision was made across the City 
including the potential use of land at Canley Cemetery. This assessment concluded that new burial 
provision would exist in Coventry for the next six to nine years. Therefore, the decision was taken 
to pause the further cemetery extension plans beyond phase 1. This released a short term saving 
to the City Council’s capital programme. 

Given the lead time to create new burial space, it is now necessary to proceed with phase 2 of the 
Lentons Lane extension to ensure that there will be continuing grave provision within the City. This 
report therefore seeks approval to proceed with phase 2 of the Lentons Lane extension.

Page 143

Agenda Item 9



Recommendations:

Cabinet is requested to:

1) Approve the commencement of phase 2 of the extension of Lentons Lane Cemetery

2) Approve the commencement of a procurement process to appoint a contractor to carry out 
and complete the works necessary.

3) Delegate authority to the Director of Streetscene and Regulatory Services in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for City Services following the completion of the tender process 
to approve the award of the contract to the preferred bidder. 

Cabinet is requested to recommend that Council:

1) Approve £260,000 being made available from Corporate Capital Resources during 
September 2018 to commence the first part of the project, to cover the appointment of the 
design team and cover the ecology reports required.  

2) Approve £1,893,000 is added to the Capital Programme being made available from 
Corporate Capital Resources  during 2019/2020 to complete the project as described in 
section 1 of this report.

Council is recommend to:

1) Approve £260,000 being made available from Corporate Capital Resources during 
September 2018 to commence the first part of the project, to cover the appointment of the 
design team and cover the ecology reports required.

2) Approve £1,893,000 is added to the Capital Programme being made available from 
Corporate Capital Resources  during 2019/2020 to complete the project as described in 
section 1 of this report.

List of Appendices included: 
Indicative Site Design Appendix 

Background papers:
None

Other useful documents
None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?
No

Will this report go to Council?
Yes – 4th September 2018

Page 144



Report title: Capital Funding for Phase 2 Extension Plans for Lentons Lane Cemetery

1. Context (or background)

1.1 At her meeting of 29th July 2014, the Cabinet Member for Public Services considered a report 
entitled “Creating Additional Burial Space at Canley Garden Cemetery”. This report approved 
the use of additional space at Canley Cemetery, and allowed Bereavement Service to defer 
a larger spend on phase 2 works at Lentons Lane.1At that time an extension design was 
drawn up which is shown the Appendix to the report. 

1.2 Currently there is approximately 4 years of new burial provision available in the new 
extension at Canley Cemetery. The existing Free Church areas of Lentons Lane will supply 
further burial opportunity for the residents of Coventry and surrounding areas for the next 2 
years, however the current Muslim section is expected to be full within the next 12-18 months. 
At present there are approximately 85 grave spaces available for adult Muslim burials, the 
average number of burials carried annually is 50. (No provision has been made for grave 
loss due to environmental factors).

1.3 The proposal is to commence phase 2 of the extension of Lentons Lane Cemetery by 
reclaiming land previously utilised for agricultural purposes that already benefits from an 
existing planning approval. The extension design has been used to establish the phase 2 
capital costs. The design however may change to ensure that maximised grave space is 
achieved.

1.4 A fundamental part of the phase 2 extension is to install extensive drainage in to all sections 
prior to burials taking place. This will include the provision of surface drains to move water to 
a retention reed bed for natural filtration. This will be done in consultation with the 
Environment Agency and will help eliminate the possibility of similar problems currently being 
experienced in older sections of the cemetery. 

2.  Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 Option 1 - Do nothing. However, this will mean that there is no burial provision for the Muslim
Community beyond a 12-18 month period and all other burial provision will be exhausted         
within the next 3 years.

2.2 Option 2 - Complete phase 2 of the extension to Lentons Lane Cemetery. The works will 
include drainage, roads and paths and take approximately 15 months from design stage to 
completion so it is imperative that the works begin as soon as possible. This is estimated to 
cost in the region of £2,153,000 and will be funded by Corporate Capital Resources. This is 
the recommended option.

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1    Consultation for the original project was carried out 2011/12 for the 1st stage of the project. 
The following specifics were desired:

3.2 The Muslim community raised a desire for the ablutions areas to be designed similar to those 
which were at Walsgrave Hospital (at the time of consultation). This requires has been 
fulfilled as part of phase 1.

1 Report to the Cabinet Member for Public Services 29th July 2014 – “Creating Additional Burial Space at Canley Garden Cemetery 
adjacent to Charter Avenue” 29th July 2014. Paragraph 5.1.1

Page 145



3.3 The roadways need to be designed wide enough to accommodate the length and width of 
modern day limousines. This has been adopted as part of the original design plans and 
implemented in phase 1 works.

3.4 For an entrance to be put in off Shilton Lane. This has been implemented.

3.5 For any chapel built to be able to accommodate all faith services including possible utilisation 
by the Muslim community. This part of the project has been indefinitely suspended and 
further consultation will take place as and when the decision is made to build the chapel in 
to the existing structure on site.

3.6 To supply both Kerb and lawn type graves – this is current practise which will continue.

3.7    The Muslim community made a request for separate sections for adults and children – this is 
current practice.

3.8    Additional request 2017 – for Coventry Bereavement Services to supply fixed construction 
chambers or breeze block built chambers in the Muslim adult sections. This request will be 
investigated further with further consultation at the development stage. 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 September 2018: Communicate decision to Funeral Directors Guild for Coventry and 
Warwickshire

4.2 August/September 2018: Appoint the design team

4.3 November 2018 : First design sign offs will commence

4.4 November / December 2018: Place notices in the cemetery outlining the scheme. 

4.5 January/March 2019: Appoint the contractor

4.6 Commence construction April 2019

4.7 Complete construction August/September 2019

4.8 Handover and Close out September 2019

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Resources

5.1 Financial implications

The total scheme cost is estimated to be in the region of £2,153,000 and will require initial 
investment to finance the project. Based on the number of spaces created by the new 
investment, it is expected at current usage rates that the life of the asset would be in excess 
of 40 years.  At current financing rates, the revenue cost of this would be c£93k per year. 

Approximately £1.9m per year is generated from burial fees, representing c1,000 burials 
each year.  In October 2016, Cabinet member for City Services approved a policy to increase 
fees each year in line with the West Midlands Benchmarking Group average price for all 
bereavement services charges until January 2021. These increases were required to support 
the capital costs required to undertake the extension to burial grounds. The cost of borrowing 
can therefore be met from future additional income generated.

Page 146



5.2 Legal implications

The Local Authorities Cemeteries Order1974 (amended in 1977 and 1986) give local 
government burial authorities general powers of management, that is subject to the 
provisions of the order a burial authority may do all such things as they consider necessary 
or desirable for the proper management, regulation and control of a cemetery.

         Procurement undertaken in order to secure the design team and works referred to in this 
report will be carried out in accordance with the Council’s Rules for Contract and the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)? 

It will ensure burial services for all faiths, cultures and beliefs can be provided by Coventry 
City Council for the long term.

6.2 How is risk being managed?

There is a risk of public dissatisfaction due to the potential need to utilise large scale industrial 
vehicles which may have an impact both visually and auditory. By posting notices for visitors 
and letters to residents we will clearly communicate why we are doing this work engaging 
people openly and honestly about the need for the extension programme.

Missing the project deadline would have a significant impact on the ability of Coventry City 
Council to provide Muslim burial space. 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

None

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

There is no requirement to undertake an EIA as this does not change any of the services we 
provide or who we provide them to. 

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

Ecological surveys are in the process of being carried out these include surveys for bats and 
great crested newts. Sensitivity will also be demonstrated during bird nesting times. Due to 
the location previously having been used for agricultural purposes there will be little or no 
impact regarding the removal of trees or hedgerows.

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None 

Page 147

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
Graham Hood
Head of Streetpride and Greenspace

Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 02476 83 2194
Email: graham.hood@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance Services 

Officer
Place 18/07/18 20/07/18

Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(Officers and Members)
Helen Williamson Lead Accountant 

Corporate Finance
Place 17/07/18 18/07/18

Phil Helm Finance Manager 
(Place)

Place 30/07/18 30/07/18

Rob Parkes Team Leader - Place, 
Legal Services

Place 17/07/18 18/07/18

Andrew Walster Director (Streetscene 
and Regulatory 
Services)

Place 20/07/18 21/07/18

Martin Yardley Deputy Chief Executive Place 01/08/18 01/08/18
Councillor G Duggins (for 
Cabinet Member for City 
Services)

Leader of the Council - 07/08/18 070/8/18

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 148

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


P
age 149



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet Report

Cabinet 28 August 2018

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People – Councillor P Seaman  

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (People) 

Ward(s) affected: 
None

Title: West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive Summary:

The purpose of this report is to inform the Cabinet of the formation of the West Midlands Social 
Work Teaching Partnership (WMSWTP) and to seek approval for receipt of grant funding of 
£1.8million over 2 years to support this venture. 

The partnership is a collaboration between fifteen local authorities, nine universities, and two NHS 
trusts. It is proposed that Coventry City Council will be the lead authority for the West Midlands.

Recommendations:

Cabinet is requested to:

1) Approve receipt of West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership DfE grant funding of 
£1,790,610 for the period from April 2018 to March 2020.

List of Appendices included:

None 

Background papers:

None 

Other useful documents

None 

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
No

Page 151

Agenda Item 10



Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 152



Report title: West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Government’s Social Work Teaching Partnerships programme brings universities and 
local authorities together to deliver high quality training for social workers. 

1.2 These partnerships aim to improve the recruitment, retention and development of social 
workers and the overall quality of practice. 

1.3 This is a two year grant funded project that is supported by the West Midlands Association 
of Directors of Children’s Services and the Association of Directors of Adults Services. 

1.4 This regional partnership will provide the opportunity for Local Authorities and Universities to 
work more closely together to develop and take forward the learning and professional 
development for Social Workers in Children’s and Adults Services across the region.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 

2.1 The Regional West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership comprises:
 Birmingham City Council and Birmingham Children’s Trust
 Birmingham City University
 Cheshire East Council
 City of Stoke on Trent Council
 City of Wolverhampton Council
 Coventry City Council (Lead Authority)
 Coventry University
 Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
 Heart of Worcester College
 Herefordshire Council
 Keele University
 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council and Sandwell Children’s Trust
 Shropshire County Council
 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
 South Staffordshire and Shropshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
 Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Partnership NHS Trust
 Staffordshire County Council
 Staffordshire University
 Telford and Wrekin Council
 University of Birmingham
 University of Warwick
 University of Wolverhampton
 University of Worcester
 Walsall Council
 Warwickshire County Council

 Worcestershire County Council

2.2 The recommendation and proposal for Cabinet approval is that Coventry City Council 
becomes the lead the Local Authority and accountable body for the West Midlands Social 
Work Teaching Partnership. Regional Social Work Employers and Universities have 
requested Coventry City Council to act as the lead due to the continued commitment to 
develop and create the organisational conditions for Social Work to flourish, and the strength 
and commitment to regional partnership working with Employers and Universities 
demonstrated by the Adult’s and Children’s Services. 

Page 153



2.3   Following the publication of the Government’s reviews of social work Education in 2015, 
Government developed a programme to improve the quality of education received by social 
work students, and post qualifying social work practitioners including through provision of 
statutory placements for more students and increased employer involvement in student 
selection. It also developed a programme of Social Work Teaching Partnerships (SWTPs). 

2.4 In May 2018 Coventry City Council submitted an expression of interest on behalf of the          
West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership to the Department for Education and 
Department for Health and Social Care. This bid was confirmed as successful in June 2018.

2.5     The Department for Education introduced Teaching Partnerships to help improve the overall   
quality of practice, learning and Continuing Professional Development (CPD) amongst 
trainee and practicing social workers.

2.6. Funded by the government, Teaching Partnerships have been created to develop and        
support high standards of work and education by building stronger links between Higher 
Education Institutions (HEIs) and employers (Local Authorities).  The Partnerships involve a 
highly collaborative relationship, with the curriculum being jointly developed, delivered and 
owned.

2.7.   Students within the partnerships benefit from a curriculum that is relevant to and informed by 
social work practice – equipping them to be good social workers going forward. They also 
benefit from practical statutory placements.  Qualified social workers get access to many 
more CPD opportunities and have the opportunity to share best practice via the Partnership 
structure.

SWTP’s aim to:
 to enhance partnership arrangements between Higher Education Institutions 

(HEIs) and employers; 
 attract more able students; embed the knowledge and skills into academic 

teaching and learning and Continuing Professional Development (CPD) for 
existing workers;

 and overall raise the quality of social work practice.

2.8 The government document Children’s Social Care – A Vision for Change (2016) noted that:
too often in the past reform of social work education and training has been solely
focused on the initial and generic qualification of social workers. This is not sufficient to bring 
the social work profession to its full potential. There is need for an end-to-end practice-
focused national career pathway which develops talent from practitioner to Practice Leader. 

2.9.   West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership will take the strategic responsibility for     
promoting closer working between all stakeholders and driving forward the improvement in 
the education, training and development for Children’s and Adults Social Workers.

2.7 Adult social work has an essential role to play in helping people keep themselves safe
         from harm and getting them the right care and support to achieve the best possible
         outcomes. To make that happen, Government recognises that everyone working

in Adult Social Work should have the knowledge and skills to do their jobs well. The West      
Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership includes Adults Services. 

Page 154



3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 There is no requirement for a formal Consultation. This paper focusses on the proposals for 
Coventry City Council to act as the Lead Local Authority for the West Midlands Social Work 
Teaching Partnership.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 If approved Recommendation 1 will be progressed immediately with a timetable for 
implementation commencing in August 2018.

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Resources

5.1 Financial implications

The total grant award is £1,790,610 of DfE funding over two years, with the Council 
proposing to be the lead authority and accountable body for the project. There is no 
requirement for match funding.

As Accountable Body, Council officers will ensure effective governance arrangements are 
in place to facilitate appropriate control over the allocation of resources and spend against 
the approved programme outlined above.

The payment profile for the project is quarterly in arrears, and payment is triggered by the 
submission of a claim form. Funding cannot be carried across financial years and must be 
fully spent by March 2020. 

On completion of the project in March 2020 it is envisaged that there will be closer working 
between all of the partners, and the project will be sustained as business as usual with more 
local and regional working that is strengthened and shared between Social Work Employers 
and HEI’s.

The risk to the council is minimal due to the grant funding being used to support the 
development of Social Work Education and Training across the partnership. Posts that will 
be created to deliver the project milestones will be on a fixed term basis and will not progress 
beyond the end date for the project in March 2020.

The grant is paid under Section 14 subsection 2 of the Education Act 2002 and Section 
67,sub-section 4b of the Care Standards Act 2000. 

5.2    Legal Implications

The appointment of the Council as Accountable Body as outlined in this report will be 
achieved through a contractual relationship and signature of a funding contract. The 
recommendations sought are consistent with this approach and extensive by necessity given 
the wide ranging nature of the subject matter of the report. 

Legal colleagues are available to advise on and support the completion and signature of the 
funding contract and ensure that risk to the Council is fully understood and mitigated through 
appropriate governance. Further, they will offer support in the delivery of the project as and 
when required by the anticipated project team. 

Page 155



The appointment to Accountable Body status will enable the Council to be directly and 
indirectly involved in the delivery of the objectives stated within this report. Due to the multi-
party collaboration elements of the projects, the Council will need to enter into a partnership 
agreement with the project partners thus ensuring that appropriate governance is in place 
between the project partners and that the partners are spending the elements of the grant 
funding for approved eligible expenditures. 

Any procurement exercise if required will be conducted so as to comply with the Council’s 
policy and legal obligations, specifically in compliance with the Council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, and supported by relevant officers.

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan  

 Globally Connected- Leading the West Midlands Social Working Teaching 
Partnership will enhance the reputation of Coventry City Council at both a regional 
and national level. It will continue to promote Coventry as a destination of choice for 
Social Workers to be employed and practice in Children’s and Adults Services. 

 Locally Committed- Through stronger local working with our HEI’s local people will 
have the opportunity to undertake Social Work programmes to enable them to qualify 
as Children’s and Adults Social Workers. Through the recruitment of a well-trained 
and developed Social Work Workforce Children, Young People and their Families 
and Carers will benefit from improved services, help and support.

6.2 How is risk being managed?

6.2.1 Delivery of the West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership will be overseen and 
reviewed regularly by the Executive Board chaired by the Director of Children’s Services. 

6.2.2 With regards to the delivery of the West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership a Risk 
Register has been produced and will be maintained, this will be regularly reviewed and 
managed by the Project Manager throughout the process and life of the project. Further 
scrutiny and oversight will be provided by the Strategic Board.

6.2.3 The most significant risks for the project along with the control measures have been identified 
as:
(i) To effectively manage Information Risks. The control measures include Locked units.    

ICT controlled access. Back up servers. Induction training on information sharing and 
data protection for all Teaching Partnership associated staff in line with the GDPRs 
new legislation.

(ii) Communicate the aims and objectives of the Partnership in a coherent and 
transparent manner. Control measure include having a clear and coherent 
communications strategy that supports and promotes the efficient delivery of 
information.

(iii) Board and Programme Manager are not appointed. Control measures in place that 
the post is advertised and recruited to by September 2018.

(iv) Improving the SW education and SW recruitment doesn’t happen fast enough. The 
control measures for this include stronger regional working and ownership from the 
Universities and Social Work Employers.

Page 156



6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

6.3.1 The West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership is a partnership that has been 
developed with all of the HEI and Social Work Employers stakeholders in the West Midlands.

6.3.2  Financial Grant Funding has been approved by the DFE following an Expression of Interest 
that had clear project milestones and defined outputs that met the required stretch criteria to 
become a Social Work Teaching Partnership.

6.3.3 The report recommendations will support and deliver an improvement in the training, 
development and education of Social Workers at pre and post qualifying level. This will also 
contribute to the recruitment and retention of Children, Families and Adult Social Workers in 
Coventry and across the West Midlands.

6.3.4 There are no HR implications for the organisation as these proposals will not directly
affect City Council employees.

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

6.4.1 The West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership is expected to contribute to raising 
standards and improving the quality of social work. It is expected to have a positive impact 
on all protected groups who are undertaking pre and post qualifying Social Work Education.

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

There are no implications on the environment for this project.

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

6.6.1 The West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership 2018 to 2020 is a partnership that has 
been developed with a range of stakeholders and partnerships. Approval and Implementation 
of the partnership has given confidence and demonstrated that Coventry City Council is 
committed to developing and improving the Quality and Consistency of Social Work Practice. 
The project has also provided confidence to HEI’s that there is a shared ownership and 
commitment to work together to improve Social Work Education in Coventry and across the 
West Midlands.

Page 157



Report author(s):
Lee Pardy-Mclaughlin
Principal Child and Family Social Worker 

Directorate: 
People

Tel and email contact: 
Email: Lee Pardy-McLaughlin
Tel: 024 76832929

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date 
response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance 

Services Officer
Place 07/08/18 07/08/18

Names of approvers for 
submission:
(Officers and Members)
Nicola David Lead Accountant People 02/08/18 04/08/18
John Gregg Director Children’s 

Services
People 29/07/18 02/08/18

Andrew Errington Head of 
Safeguarding and 
Principal Social 
Worker Adult 
Services

People 07/08/18 08/08/18

Julie Newman Head of Legal 
Services

Place 08/08/18 08/08/18

Councillor P Seaman Cabinet Member 
for Childrens 
Services

People 07/08/18 08/08/18

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 158

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 UK City of Culture 2021 - City Readiness
	5 2018/19 First Quarter Financial Monitoring Report (to June 2018)
	6 Award of a Grant to Coventry Refugee and Migrant Centre
	7 Second Devolution Deal for the West Midlands
	Second Devolution Deal for the West Midlands - Appendix 1
	Second Devolution Deal for the West Midlands - Appendix 2

	8 Public Space Protection Order (Coventry Dog Control)
	PSPO Dog Control Report - The Order-Appendix 1
	PSPO Dog Control Report - Map of Control Zones-Appendix 2
	PSPO Dog Control Report - Consultation Results-Appendix 3
	Q1 Do you agree that Coventry City Council officers should continue to deal with dog fouling where the owner fails to clear up after their dog?
	Q2 Do you believe that Coventry City Council should continue with a Dogs on Leads Order for specific areas of the city?
	Q3 Do you support the inclusion of ‘Fairy Village’ at Allesley Park as a dogs on leads area?
	Q4 Do you agree that authorised Council officers should continue to be granted powers to insist that an owner puts their dog on a lead?
	Q5 Do you agree that authorised Council officers should continue to be able to restrict owners from taking their dogs into certain places which are clearly signed?
	Q6 Do you agree that the Council should continue to be granted powers to introduce a ‘Dogs (Specified Maximum) on Land Order’?
	Q7 What is your gender?
	Q8 What is your ethnic background?
	Q9 How old are you?
	Q10 Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person?
	Q11 Please provide your postcode (optional):


	9 Capital Funding for Phase 2 Extension Plans for Lentons Lane Cemetery
	Capital Funding for Phase 2 Exention Plans for Lentons Lane Cementary - Appendix

	10 West Midlands Social Work Teaching Partnership



